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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR RE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December
BZE12A310LLEE

2019 2018 2017 2016

20195 20184 20174 20164

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHT FHET FHT

Revenue e zs 352,937 371,883 305,021 241,628

Income tax expenses P55 52 (11,434) (8,020) (8,020) (6,361)

Profit for the year F R ) 26,482 33,736 25,748 19,556
Profit for the year attributable to ViN/NETE Z =N

owners of the Company &4 % F 25,331 31,940 24,208 19,229

As at 31 December
M12831H

2019 2018 2017 2016

2019%F 20184 20174 20164

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET FHET FHET

Total assets BERE 286,400 270,846 235,683 172,639

Total liabilities B 585 142,430 154,130 151,770 99,509
Equity attributable to owners of KABEAR A

the Company TE(L ST 143,970 116,716 83,913 73,130
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EFE®E

Dear Shareholders,

This year was an extraordinary year for Cirtek Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to the “Group”)
as we reached the major milestone of successfully listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) in March 2020. The listing signified the dawn of a new
phase for the Group and powered our forward momentum, renewing our
energy to pursue growth in a challenging operating environment, and
gaining us exposure in the international capital market.

The global economy has been in a synchronized slowdown due to the
growth momentum of major economies has moderated further. Although
US - Mainland trade tensions have eased somewhat lately, there may
still be twists and turns in US — Mainland trade relations. Together
with and the outbreak of the new coronavirus, it will certainly bring
myriad challenges to the global economy in the coming year. With all
the unfavorable factors and more prudent and conservative business
strategies adopted by the clients, the Group will continue to enhance its
sales effort, the quality of its production and its internal controls, and will
strive to implement stringent cost controls to cope with the challenging
global market conditions.

The Group’'s 2019 profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HK$25,331,000 (2018: HK$31,940,000). The
decrease of profit was mainly attributable to (i) increase in headcount and
its labor costs, (ii) increase in the listing expenses; and (iii) an increase
in administrative expenses as a result of the increased in depreciation
mainly related to an increase in monthly rental of our new Hong Kong
office in April 2018. Basic earnings per share was HK$1.69 cents (2018:
HK$2.13 cents). The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of the Company does not recommend any final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

In order to diversify the Group’s business foundation and maximize
the interests of the Group and the shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”), the Group will continue to explore for suitable and
appropriate business opportunities.

With an eye on the growing trend of technology-enabled printing
products, we have enriched our product mix with more value-added
information technology-related services in order to provide a wider
and more technologically-advanced range of products to our clients.
In coming year, the Group will develop the RFID (Radio Frequency
Identification) technique in our printing products. In becoming one of the
premier printing companies to introduce information technology-related
services that enhance customer engagement. We hope that we can
obtain first mover advantage and lay the foundation for further business
growth.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFEWHE

Apart from the new printing technique development, we will increase
our production capacity through construction of a new production
facility and purchase of machinery in Bangladesh, to grasp the business
opportunities arising from growth in the local and peripheral demand for
apparel labels and trim products. In addition, we will boost our efficiency
and increase profitability through effective management across
our technology, operations and marketing activities, and continued
collaboration with our customers and suppliers, and in turn, allowing us
to overcome challenges amidst the volatility of the global market. We will
also continue to seek opportunities to realise sustainable growth of our
business and increase Shareholders’ value by increasing the production
capacity and customer base.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere gratitude to
our shareholders, investors, business partners, management and all the
staff members for their increasing support and dedication to the Group.
We will continue to provide the market with innovative and high-quality
printing products and adopt the most stringent controls and adaptable
strategies to drive the Group's business development in the long term.
This will enable us to achieve better results and create greater value for
customers, investors and Shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENW& D

OUTLOOK

On 12 March 2020 (the “Listing Date”), the Company has successfully
completed its global offering (the “Global Offering”) and listed (the
“Listing”) on the Stock Exchange. The Listing remarks a significant
milestone to the business development of the Group. On behalf of
the Board, | would like to express our sincerest gratitude to all our
shareholders and business partners for the continuous support for the
Company.

Looking ahead to the current year, due to the outbreak of the novel
coronavirus (“COVID-19"), the Group's operational and financial
performance, as well as the apparel labels and trim products
manufacturing market in general are expected to be affected by the
pandemic in the first half of 2020. However, we believe that there
will still be a positive growth in the apparel labels and trim products
manufacturing market for 2020, and the Group continues to overcome
the challenges amidst changes in the global market environments by
boosting our efficiency and increasing our profitability through more
effective management across our technology, operations and marketing
activities, and continued collaboration with our customers and suppliers.

The Directors and staff of the Group would thrive their best on the
continuous development of the Group's business so as to create more
benefits for the Shareholders and the society.

REVIEW OF OPERATION

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
apparel labels and trim products, such as hang tags, woven labels,
printed labels and heat transfer products. The Group has been serving
worldwide trim and packaging needs and most of the Group’s products
were ultimately used as hang tags and labels on finished garments of the
garment brand companies.

During the year, the revenue of the Group has decreased slightly by
approximately 5.1% while comparing with corresponding period for 2018
due to the global economic downturn which led to lower demand of
apparel related products. The Group will continue to seek opportunities
to realise sustainable growth of its business and to increase its
shareholders’ value by increasing its production capacity and customer
base.

Through the net proceeds of approximately HK$74.9 million raised under
the Global Offering, the Group will be able to increase the production
capacity in Bangladesh by the construction of a new production facility
in Bangladesh (the “New Bangladesh Factory”) and the purchase of
machinery for the New Bangladesh Factory. The expansion will help
the Group capture business opportunities arose from the growth in the
demand for apparel labels and trim products in Bangladesh.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Revenue

The Group's revenue decreased by approximately HK$18.9 million to
approximately HK$352.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The decrease in revenue was mainly due to (i) the decrease in sales
to Customer A of approximately HK$8.8 million and (ii) the decrease in
average sales price of the Group's products to approximately HK$0.25
per piece for the year ended 31 December 2019 from approximately
HK$0.28 per piece for the corresponding period in 2018, which was
partially offset by the increase in sales volume by approximately 4.8%
for the year ended 31 December 2019 as compare to the corresponding
period in 2018 as a result of the general increase in both the number of
purchase orders from our customers as well as the size of the purchase
orders.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit increased by approximately HK$12.4 million to
approximately HK$174.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The increase in gross profit was mainly due to (i) the depreciation of
Renminbi against Hong Kong dollars during the period which led to lower
cost of raw materials consumed and direct labour in terms of Hong Kong
dollars; and (ii) decrease in subcontracting fee, which was partially offset
by the decrease in revenue for the period.

As a result of the foregoing, our gross profit margin increased from
approximately 43.7% during the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately 49.5% for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly included staff costs, depreciation,
legal and professional fee. The increase in administrative expenses by
approximately HK$7.0 million to HK$83.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 was mainly due to (i) an increase in staff cost mainly
because of an increase in headcount in accounting and finance, and
product development teams in Hong Kong and larger pension scheme
contributions for the period; and (ii) an increase in depreciation mainly
related to an increase in monthly rental of our new Hong Kong office in
April 2018.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly included staff cost, consultancy
and commission expenses, travelling and entertainment. The increase
in selling and distribution expenses by approximately HK$3.7 million
to HK$44.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 was mainly
because of increase in staff cost mainly due to the increase in
headcount.

Cirtek Holdings Limited « 2019 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

Other expenses

Other expenses mainly included (i) net foreign exchange losses; (ii) net
recognition/(reversal) of impairment losses on trade receivables; (iii) loss
on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment; and (iv) others.

Other expenses increased by approximately HK$0.6 million to HK$0.9
million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Other income and gains

Other income and gains mainly included income from net foreign
exchange gains, write-back of trade payables, sales of scrap materials,
government grant, freight and transportation income and others. For the
year ended 31 December 2019, the other income and gains increased by
approximately HK$2.1 million to HK$5.7 million.

Listing expenses

The Listing expenses comprise professional and other expenses in
relation to the Listing. Listing expenses increased by approximately
HK$7.0 million to HK$11.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.

Finance costs

Our finance costs comprise interest on bank loans and interest on lease
liabilities. Finance costs amounted to approximately HK$2.7 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: HK$2.8 million).

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased by approximately HK$3.4 million to
approximately HK$11.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The increase in income tax expenses was mainly due to higher estimated
assessable profits of one of the Group’s PRC companies.

Liquidity and capital resources

The net assets of the Group amounted to approximately HK$144.0
million as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: HK$116.7 million).
The increase in net assets was primarily due to the profit generated from
the operation during the current year.

The Group derives its working capital mainly from cash and cash
equivalents and net cash generated from operating activities. The
Directors expect that the Group will rely on the internally generated
funds and utilise the net proceeds from the Listing allocated for working
capital purpose to satisfy its working capital requirements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

As at 31 December 2019, the cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$43.8 million (31 December 2018:
HK$23.0 million). The increase in cash and bank balances was primarily
due to (i) the operating cash inflow and (ii) less purchase of items of
property, plant and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2019
as compared to the prior year. For the HK$43.8 million, approximately
HK$8.2 million was denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, approximately
HK$23.6 million was denominated in US Dollars, and approximately
HK$7.4 million was denominated in Renminbi. The Group's cash in US
Dollars and Renminbi was held to support its core operational needs.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’'s net current assets were
approximately HK$41.5 million (31 December 2018: HK$4.0 million).
The current ratio, being current assets over current liabilities, was
approximately 1.4 as at 31 December 2019 (31 December 2018: 1.0).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately HK$20.7 million
(2018: HK$12.7 million) interest-bearing bank borrowings. As at 31
December 2019, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HK$24.6 million on aggregate, of which approximately HK$20.7 million
was utilised and approximately HK$3.9 million was unutilised. The Group
is not committed to draw down the unutilised amount.

The Group’s certain lease liabilities are guaranteed by personal guarantee
provided by the Company’'s controlling shareholders amounted to
HK$54.6 million as at 31 December 2018 which decrease to HK$41.8
million as at 31 December 2019. Such personal guarantee has been
replaced by corporate guarantees upon the Listing.

The gearing ratio is approximately 43.5% and 57.7% for the years ended
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, respectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
approximately HK$11.1 million in capital expenditures, which was
primarily for the purchase of machineries.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

The Group currently does not use derivative financial instruments to
hedge against the volatility associated with foreign currency transactions
and other financial assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of
business.

Permanent changes in foreign exchange rates would have an impact on
consolidated financial statements. The Board will closely monitor the
changes of the rate of exchange and government policies from time to
time.

Cirtek Holdings Limited « 2019 Annual Report
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DT

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no material contingent liabilities
(31 December 2018: nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following significant events took place subsequent to 31 December
2019:

(i) Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the Shareholders passed on
21 February 2020, the Directors were authorised to allot and issue
a total of 1,499,999,750 shares credited as fully paid at par to each
of the holders of the Company's shares whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company at the close of business
on 21 February 2020 in proportion of their shareholdings by way of
capitalisation of the sum of HK$14,999,997.50 standing to the credit
of the share premium account of the Company.

(i) The Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange and 500,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at HK$0.25
per share on the Listing Date in connection with the Listing as
detailed in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 February 2020
(the “Prospectus”).

(iii) The recent escalation of COVID-19 to a global pandemic in March
2020 has an adverse impact on market sentiment and posed
challenge to the whole world. The Group will continue to closely
monitor the development of the pandemic and take all possible
reasonable measures to mitigate the effect on the Group's
operations.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, the Group (i)
did not hold any significant investments in equity interest in any other
companies; (i) did not have any material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures; and (iii) has no definite future
plans for material investments and capital assets.

OUR EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, we had a total of 1,075 employees in all
regions.

The Company’'s employee benefit expense (excluding directors’
remuneration), including salaries, bonuses and other employee’s
benefits, amounted to approximately HK$116.5 million and
approximately HK$111.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2019
and 2018, respectively. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and
wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals
and other relevant factors.
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures. The corporate
governance principle of the Company emphasizes accountability and
transparency and is adopted in the best interests of the Company and
the Shareholders. In addition the Company will strive to continuously
improve these practices and cultivate an ethical corporate culture.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions as set out on in the Code
of Corporate Governance (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the "“Listing Rules”). The Company has complied
with all the applicable code provisions in the CG Code since the Listing
Date up to the date of this report.

BOARD COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is composed of 6 Directors, of which 3 are executive Directors
and 3 are independent non-executive Directors. All the independent
non-executive Directors have appropriate professional qualifications,
experience or related industry expertise. The Directors’ biography and
relevant relationships amongst them are set out in the Directors’ and
Senior Management’s Profiles section under Report of the Directors on
pages 26 to 30 of this annual report.

Review will be made regularly by the Board to ensure that it has a
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirement of the
Group. Also, a balanced composition of executive Directors is maintained
to ensure independence and effective management. The Company
has satisfied the Listing Rules in having one of the independent
non-executive Directors with appropriate accounting qualifications and
expertise to sit in the Audit Committee.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 and Appendix
16(12B) of the Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all
independent non-executive Directors meet the independence guidelines
set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are independent in
accordance with the terms of the guidelines. The Company considers all
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Independent non-executive Directors are identified in all corporate
communications. An updated list of the Directors identifying the
independent non-executive Directors and the roles and functions of the
Directors is maintained on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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When selecting potential candidates for directors, skills, experience,
expertise, their devotion of time, potential conflicts of interests are
key factors of consideration. The Nomination Committee was set up to
make recommendations to the Board on the selection and nomination
of candidates for directorship. Majority of members of the Nomination
Committee are independent non-executive Directors.

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and is responsible for the
formulation of the Group's strategy, overseeing the management of the
business and affairs of the Group.

Key and important decisions are fully discussed at the board meetings.
All Directors have been fully consulted about any matters proposed for
inclusion in the agenda. The Chairman has delegated the responsibility
for drawing up the agenda for each board meeting to the company
secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”). With the
support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings and
receive adequate and reliable information in a timely manner.

Board meetings are scheduled to be held at regular intervals. The Board
would meet more frequently as and when required.

All the Directors are covered by the Director’'s & Officer’'s Liability
Insurance, which is also part of our best practices.

The attendance record of the Directors at the board meetings since the
Listing Date up to the date of this report is as follows:

DREEBCERBABZIEZEARZRAHAAR
ZEeBE - RBE - EEME - ARARRRBENE
BRE - ARFCKRUREREZEE  BBERES
ERREAREFTSRNEN - REZBEG 2R
DERERBULIFNTES -

BEERRABRREE  YEEHRIASEZRE &
BEAREEGREB2ERTHE-

BMRENEZAREANEZTSSHETEREN® - #
BaASRAR2ENER  AMEESELERD
#if c TREEEARTNARANE(2IWE]D
BEHRIBAREZTERRZAE - TR NEERT
WEWMB T BRERAAEEREFSSE LR
HZ EHEEERR URRESRARAEZE
e

EEeFHRTES -

FEH -

EXeNFHFENTREH

AEEOHEERSRBERERAR  ETA
BMSEERN—#D

BLETRAPEREEFAREAY  EFHFEFS
BH ST

Attendance
Board meetings
EEEEE
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry PR BB S0 A A
Ms. Law Miu Lan Candy wYMIZL /1
Mr. Chan Tsz Fung PRI I 5 & mn

Independent Non-executive Directors BIEHITES
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick BHEEE ”n
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELAE il
Dr. Wong Chi Wing TELEL il
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Notice of at least fourteen days is given to the Directors for regular
meetings, while Board papers are sent to the Directors not less than
three days before the scheduled date of a board or board committee
meeting. The Directors can attend meetings in persons or through other
means of electronic communication. The Company Secretary ensures
that the procedure and all applicable rules and regulations are strictly and
fully complied with. Minutes of board meetings and board committee
meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and are available for
inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Directors.

Directors have full access to information on the Group and are able to
obtain independent professional advice whenever necessary.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Every newly appointed Director will meet with other Directors and key
management executives, and will receive a comprehensive, formal and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment. Subsequently,
he will receive briefings and other professional development necessary
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the operations and
business of the Company and he is fully aware of his responsibility with
the Company.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. Directors
are also invited to participate in the Company events to familiarize
themselves with the operations of the Company and create opportunity
to communicate with other management members of the Company.

The records of training as received by each Director for the year ended
31 December 2019 are summarized as follows:

THERARLEF4AMESTELEN  MESF
EXMHEAREEEREERETeRRTARAN
BIAPMBAZREES - EFAHANEREME
FBAFTALEBEZE - DR WERRBIRDEEST
BRRFARAEERRUEAN - EFGSER
BEFEZEQOR L eRLEARFTWERE - M
EER2AAERMTEHAIRBEIEL - HUEMH
B o

EETASBMEAREEER - LERFTENRRE
ABIEXER -

Bzl E

EHEEEHEEMERRIEERITHARS
- YHREENEOGEEREE - EXARER
Mz HEIES] « g - SR AHEEHREEAMm
EEHRGY - BRAHARRZEREBARE
T YR2HAARRARRZAEEL

ARREBEBEE2AFBEETEERIGIIAEH
WERMB R IR - BREE TR R AT ZIE
ATHESSFLER BEFEHE2EAREE
& - UABARREPEN - TEIEHEEARRH M
ERREER

BREENEE2019F12A31B L FEEZE
ZREERBEA NS ¢

Type of trainings
sEHE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry RR B AR 5T A
Ms. Law Miu Lan Candy BYBLL

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung PR r g S0
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick ML A4

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEELE

Dr. Wong Chi Wing FEEHLT

> >

A: reading materials relating to general business, regulatory updates on
the Listing Rules and board practices
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE POLICY AND DUTIES

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance functions as set out below:

(i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(iv) developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and directors;
and

(v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman
of the Audit Committee is the person to be notified for securities
dealings by Directors and a designated form is used for notification and
acknowledgement purpose.

All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company,
their compliance with the required standards of dealings and its code
of conduct regarding the directors’ securities transaction since the
Listing Date up to the date of this report and there was no event of non-
compliance.

Senior management of the Company is also required to comply with the
guidelines on similar terms as set out in the Model Code.

R
EERRARTEERERREZRE - #IIWT :
(i) BERBHARRZEEEGBERTER
(i) MARERERRSREBAS ZFIIRFE

BRER:

(i) Wt RERARAFARERZREERENEZ
BENER
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AIRARFMIE) &
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ZHE -
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Company places great importance on internal control and risk
management to safeguard the assets of the Company and the interests
of shareholders. The Board has overall responsibility for the system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Audit Committee
assists the Board in meeting its responsibilities for maintaining an
effective system of internal control. The Audit Committee reviews the
process by which the Group evaluates its control environment and risk
assessment process, and the way in which business and control risks
are managed through the assistance of the Company’s Internal Control
Consultant.

The Internal Control Consultant assesses risk exposure, formulates audit
plan and ensures that the audit programs cover key internal control areas
of operating subsidiaries on a rotational basis for the review by the Audit
Committee.

The Internal Control Consultant reports her findings and
recommendations to management of the Company and the Audit
Committee. The Internal Control Consultant also monitors the follow-
up actions agreed upon in response to her recommendations and
reports to the Audit Committee the progress of implementation of those
recommendations.

With the assistance of the Audit Committee and the Company's Internal
Control Consultant, the Board is satisfied that the overall financial,
operational and compliance controls, and risk management of the Group
continues to be effective.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Group. The Directors ensure that the preparation of
the financial statements of the Group is in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 35 to 40 of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the auditors of the Company
received approximately HK$1,611,000 (2018: HK$736,000) for their audit
service. Non-audit service which covered taxation service provided to the
Group was approximately HK$608,000 (2018: HK$103,000) in the same
year.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises 2 Independent Non-executive
Directors and 1 executive Director. They are Mr. Lee Tak Cheong
(Committee Chairman), Dr. Wong Chi Wing and Ms. Law Miu Lan Candy.
The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference which are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

The policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and the
senior management were reviewed by the Committee. Remuneration,
including basic salary and performance bonus. Annual salary adjustment
and performance bonus are subject to review and approval by the
Committee.

No individual directors and senior managers are allowed to determine his
or her own remuneration.

The Committee met once since the Listing Date up to the date of this
report with a 100% attendance by all Committee members.

During the year, the works performed by the Committee included the
following:

— the review of the performance and remuneration packages of
directors and senior management; and

— the review of the remuneration policy of the Group.
NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises two executive Directors, Mr.
Chan Sing Ming Barry (Committee Chairman) and Mr. Chan Tsz Fung and
three independent non-executive Directors, Dr. Wong Chi Wing, Mr. Lee
Tak Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference of
the Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Committee is responsible for making recommendation to the Board
for selection and nomination of directors, and the succession planning of
directors and senior management. The Committee also reviews the size,
structure and composition of the Board with reference to the Company’s
board diversity policy and assesses the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Committee met once since the Listing Date and up to the date of
this report with a 100% attendance by all Committee members.
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During the year, the works performed by the Committee included the
following:

— the recommendation of the retiring directors for re-election at the
annual general meeting;

— the review of composition of the Board; and

— the assessment of independence of the independent Non-executive
Directors.

The Board adopted the board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board to enhance
quality of its performance. The policy aims to achieve diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors including but not being
limited to skills, regional and industry experience, background, age,
race, gender and other qualities. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All Board
appointments are based on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and
experience, and taking into account diversity.

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the composition of
the Board under diversified perspective, and monitor the implementation
of this policy to ensure its effectiveness. It will discuss any revisions
that may be required and recommend such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection
and appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the
Company.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (“Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the selection criteria and process in relation to nomination
and appointment of Directors of the Company and aims to ensure that
the Board members have a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group's business.
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The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability
and the potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate,
including but not limited to the following:

e Reputation for integrity;

e Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and
industry;

e Commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

e Compliance with the criteria of independence, in case for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director, as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange;

e Diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age
(18 years or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

e Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination
Committee or the Board from time to time as appropriate.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedure for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general
meetings.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and
approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. They are Dr. Wong Chi Wing (Committee Chairman), Mr. Lee
Tak Cheong and Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick. The defined terms of reference of
the Committee are set out in writing and are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
effectiveness of Company’s internal control and the Company’s internal
audit function, risk management system and regulatory compliance, the
review of the Company’s financial information and compliance, making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal of
external auditor and assessing its independence and performance.
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Since the Listing Date and up to the date of this report, the Committee

ZEZEgE LTAMEREEAREAHRT—

held one meeting and the attendance record is as follows: @3 HESRSIT
Attendance
Dr. Wong Chi Wing TELEL il
Mr. Lee Tak Cheong TEERE A
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick R E 71
The works performed by the Committee during the year included the RAFEE - ZEESHT L TIERIE :

following:

— reviewing with the auditor on key audit and accounting matters, and
updates on regulatory rules in the auditor's Audit Committee Report
and the draft audited financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2019

— reviewing the financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019 focusing on business highlights, any change of accounting
policies and practices, and compliance with accounting standards
and listing rules requirements

— reviewing with the auditor the scope of their audit, their
communication plan, their independence, developments affecting
the Company's business, their risk assessment and updates of
accounting standards and listing rules as affecting the Company for
the financial year ended 31 December 2019

— reviewing the audit plan, audit progress report and significant audit
findings with management at all committee meetings

- reviewing with management on implementation of the
recommendations on internal control made by the Internal Control
Consultant

— reviewing the risk management and internal control of the Group

The Committee is satisfied with the review of the work of external
auditors, their audit fees, results of their audits and has recommended
to the Board their re-appointment for the financial year ending on 31
December 2020 at the forthcoming annual general meeting (“"AGM").

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Company's affairs. During the financial year
ended 31 December 2019, the Company Secretary has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules which requires the Company Secretary to take no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training. The biographical details of
the Company Secretary are set out in the section of “DIRECTORS" AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S PROFILES" in this annual report.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (“Dividend Policy"),
pursuant to which the Company may declare and distribute dividends
to the Shareholders. A decision to declare and pay any dividends would
require the approval of the Board and will be at their discretion. The
Board may from time to time determine and pay to the Shareholders
such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The Board may
recommend the payment of final dividends which are required to be
approved by the Shareholders of the Company in general meetings.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company recognizes the importance of communication with the
Shareholders, both individual and institutional as well as potential
investors. The Company adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy
with an aim of ensuring that the Shareholders are provided with timely
information about the Company and enabling them to engage actively
with the Company and to exercise their rights in an informed manner.

The AGM also provides a good opportunity for communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, the
Chairman of the respective Committees as well as the external auditors
are normally present to answer questions as raised by the Shareholders.
Notice of the AGM and the related circular are sent to the Shareholders
at least 20 clear business days before the meeting.

Votes of the Shareholders at general meeting will be taken by poll in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Detailed procedures for conducting a
poll will be explained to the Shareholders at the beginning of the general
meeting to ensure that the Shareholders are familiar with the voting
procedures. Each issue will be proposed by a separate resolution by the
Chairman of the general meeting. The poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange on the same day of
the general meeting. Each general meeting, other than an annual general
meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting (“"EGM").

Procedures and right for the Shareholders to convene EGM

- An EGM shall be convened on the requisition of one or more
Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition,
not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the Company (the
“Eligible Shareholder(s)"”) having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition.
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— The requisition must state clearly the names of the Eligible
Shareholders concerned, specify the objects of the meeting, and
be signed by the Eligible Shareholders concerned. The Eligible
Shareholders must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company.

— The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share registrar
and transfer office of the Company and upon their confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the Board will convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the requirements
under the amended and restated memorandum and articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) to all
the registered Shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has
been verified as not in order or the Shareholders concerned have
failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses
for the said purposes, the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned will be
advised of this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for
an EGM.

— If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Law (Revised) of Cayman
Islands. However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may by means of requisition convene an
EGM.

Specific enquiries and suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
registered office. Shareholders are encouraged to access to the
Company website at http://www.cirtek.com for all relevant information
including Company’'s announcements, press releases, financial
highlights, the Company’s constitutional documents and detailed
procedures for the Shareholders to convene meetings.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has a proactive policy for promoting investor relations and
communications by maintaining a regular dialogue with investors and
other stakeholders. The Company’s website at http://www.cirtek.com
also features a dedicated Investor Relations section to facilitate
communication with the Shareholders and investors. Corporate
information and other relevant financial and non-financial information are
made available electronically and in a timely manner.

Save for the adoption of the Articles of Association upon the Listing,
since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual report, there
had been no significant changes in the constitutional documents of the
Company. The Articles of Association is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company during the year was investment
holding.

The principal activities of the Group during the year were manufacture
and sale of apparel products, such as hang tags, woven labels, printed
labels and heat transfer products. There were no significant changes in
the nature of the Group's principal activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A discussion and review in the business activities of the Group, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group
and an indication of the likely future development of the Group's
business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 5 to 6 and pages
7 to 11 of this annual report, respectively. Certain key performance
indicators, a discussion on the Group’s environment policies and
performance and its compliance with the relevant laws and regulations,
and an account of the Group's relationship with its key stakeholders are
included in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”. The Company
will also publish its standalone Environmental, Social and Governance
Report for the year ended 31 December 2019 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange in due course. These discussions form part of this
"Report of the Directors”.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Group are shown in note 34 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year and the Company’s and the Group's
financial positions at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 41 to 112.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, a special dividend of HK$10.0
million was declared by the Company and the same was paid to the then
shareholders in February 2020 prior to the Listing.

Save for the above, the Board does not recommend any final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2019. (2018: Nil.)

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY'’S INITIAL PUBLIC
OFFERING

Net proceeds from the initial public offering were approximately HK$74.9
million after deducting all the direct costs associated with the Listing. Up
to the date of this annual report, none of the net proceeds was used.

As disclosed in announcement of offer price and allotment results, dated
11 March 2020, the Company intends to use such net proceeds for the
purposes and in the amounts set out below:

(i) approximately HK$68.8 million or 91.9% of the net proceeds from
the Global Offering will be used for increasing the production
capacity in Bangladesh by (a) the construction of the New
Bangladesh Factory; and (b) purchasing machinery for the New
Bangladesh Factory; and
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(i) approximately HK$6.1 million or 8.1% of the net proceeds from the
Global Offering will be used for the Group’s working capital and
general corporate purpose.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the Group’s financial information for the last four financial
years is set out on page 4 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company's share capital during the year are
set out in note 27 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors are interested in any business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the
Listing Rules during the year.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As the Company was not listed on the Stock Exchange as of 31
December 2019, provisions relating to disclosure of connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules were not applicable
to the Company during the year. The related party transactions are
disclosed in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED SECURITIES OF THE
COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company's securities during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which could oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company

during the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and in note 28 to the financial statements, respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had no reserve available for
distribution to the Shareholders (31 December 2018: Nil), calculated in
accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands. In addition, the Company’s share premium account, in the
amount of HK$200,290,000 may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted
by the Company on 21 February 2020. The purpose of the Scheme
is to enable the Company to grant options to selected participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The Directors may, at their absolute discretion, invite any person
belonging to any of the following classes of participants, to take up
options to subscribe for Shares under the Scheme: (a) any employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive Director), consultants or advisers of, or, to the Company, any
of the subsidiaries or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which the
Company holds an equity interest (collectively, the Company, any of
the subsidiaries or the Invested Entity are referred to as the “Relevant
Parties”); (b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of, any supplier of goods or services to,
any customer of and any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to, the Relevant Parties; and
(c) any Shareholders or any shareholder of any of its subsidiaries or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by the Relevant
Parties. For the purposes of the Scheme, the options may be granted to
any company wholly-owned by one or more persons belonging to any of
the above classes of participants.

The maximum number of Shares to be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Group must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company from time to
time. No options may be granted under any schemes of the Company or
the subsidiary of the Company if such grant will result in the maximum
number being exceeded. The total number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme and
any other schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue (i.e. 200,000,000 as at the date of this annual
report). Options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme or
any other schemes will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
10% limit.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options granted under Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares
then in issue. Any further grant of the Options in excess of this limit is
subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. Each grant of
option under the Scheme to a Director, chief executive or substantial
Shareholder, or to any of their associates, is subject to approval in
advance by the independent non-executive Directors. In addition,
any grant of option grant of option under the Scheme to a substantial
Shareholder or an independent non-executive Director, or to any of their
associates, in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company's shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to Shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.
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An option may be accepted by a participant within 28 days from the
date of the grant of the option. The Directors may, at their absolute
discretion, fix any minimum period for which an option must be held, any
performance targets that must be achieved and any other conditions that
must be fulfilled before the options can be exercised upon the grant of an
option to a participant.

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any option granted under
the Scheme, subject to any adjustments made in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme, shall be such price as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, provided that such price shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five business
days (as defined in the Listing Rules) immediately preceding the date
of grant of the option (which must be a business day (as defined in the
Listing Rules)); (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the option
(which must be a business day (as defined in the Listing Rules)); and (iii)
the nominal value of the Shares. A consideration of HK$1.00 is payable
on acceptance of the offer of the grant of an option.

The Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the
Listing Date.

No share options were granted under the Scheme during the year. Share
options do not confer rights to the holders to dividends or to vote at
Shareholders’ meetings.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers
accounted for approximately 21.6% of the total sales for the year and
sales to the largest customer included therein amounted to 11.0%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 9.8% of the total purchases for the year and purchase
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to 3.0%.

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry
Ms. Law Miu Lan Candy
Mr. Chan Tsz Fung

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong

Dr. Wong Chi Wing
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In accordance with article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, one-third
of the directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third,
shall retire from office by rotation provided that every director (including
those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring director shall be
eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at which a
director retires may fill the vacated office.

Each of Mr. Chan Tsz Fung and Mr. Lee Tak Cheong will retire at the
AGM and all of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re- election
at the AGM.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from
Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick, Mr. Lee Tak Cheong and Dr. Wong Chi Wing, and
as at the date of this report still considers them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’'S PROFILES
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Sing Ming Barry (FRE288), aged 60, was appointed as our
managing director in February 1992 and appointed as our Director on 25
January 2019 and re-designated as our executive Director on 21 February
2020. Mr. Barry Chan is responsible for our Group's overall management,
corporate development and strategic planning. He obtained a higher
certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in
November 1984.

Mr. Barry Chan has over 38 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry.

Ms. Law Miu Lan Candy (##'#), aged 57, was appointed as our
assistant managing director in September 1994, our Chief Executive
Officer and Director on 17 May 2019 and was re-designated as our
executive Director on 21 February 2020. Ms. Candy Law is responsible
for our Group's overall management, operation and strategic planning.
She obtained a higher certificate in fashion and clothing manufacture
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong
Kong Polytechnic) in November 1984.

Ms. Candy Law has over 35 years of experience in the apparel labels and
trim products manufacturing industry.

Mr. Chan Tsz Fung (BR#¥1£), aged 30, joined our Group in October
2013 as an operations assistant and is currently a product development
manager of Charming Printing Limited, a subsidiary of the Group
(“Charming Printing”). He was appointed as our Director on 17 May
2019 and was re-designated as our executive Director on 21 February
2020. Mr. James Chan has over five years of experience in the apparel
labels and trim products manufacturing industry. He is primarily
responsible for overseeing the product development, marketing and
strategic planning of our Group, in particular our Group's sales and
marketing activities in Europe. He studied diploma of engineering at
Deakin University from February 2011 to February 2012. He is the son of
Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law, our executive Directors.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lam Chor Ki Dick (##Z#), aged 54, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Baptist University with a bachelor’'s degree in
business administration in November 1990. He then obtained the master
of arts in electronic business from the City University of Hong Kong in
November 2003.

From July 1990 to October 2000, Mr. Lam held various accounting and
finance positions in a number of companies including AIA Group Limited,
Inchcape Marketing Ltd., LeaRonal (S.E.Asia) Ltd., Elite Business
Machines Mfg. Co. Ltd., Dong Ying Computer Label & Embroidery
Company Limited and AFG Company Limited. From November 2000
to January 2005, Mr. Lam served as a financial controller at Lexmark
International (China) Co., Ltd., a company principally engages in the
provision of printing and imaging products and software solutions
services. From January 2005 to December 2005, he worked as a financial
controller at Fellowes Consulting LLC Dongguan Representative Office,
a company principally manufactures paper shredders. From January
2006 to November 2008, Mr. Lam worked as a director at Electrical
Components International Inc., a company principally manufactures
wire harness, with his last position being a finance and administrative
director and was the director of business administration at ECI (Huizhou).
From December 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Lam served as an operation
controller at Shakespeare (Hong Kong) Ltd., a company principally
manufactures sports hardware. From November 2010 to January 2012,
he served as a consultant at Resources Global Professionals (HK)
Limited, a consultancy firm. Mr. Lam has served as a vice president of
the asian operation department in ECI (Huizhou) since February 2012.

Mr. Lee Tak Cheong (Z&E&), aged 49, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020. Mr. Lee
graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in engineering in November 1993. He then obtained a postgraduate
diploma in quality management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2000. In December 2003, Mr. Lee obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from The Chinese University
of Hong Kong.

From April 2004 to December 2007, Mr. Lee worked as a general
manager overseeing factory management at Mansfield Manufacturing
Co. Ltd., a company primarily engaged in metal stamping business.
From December 2007 to June 2009, he served as a general manager at
Top Link Industrial Co. Ltd., a company primarily manufactures electric
powered tools. From September 2009 to August 2014, Mr. Lee started
working as a general manager at Charming Printing and was promoted
as an operational director in April 2012. From October 2014 to the
present, Mr. Lee has been serving as a director overseeing the business
management at Dreamcubics 3D Printing Limited, a company primarily
sells 3D printers and provides 3D printing service.
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Dr. Wong Chi Wing (E£7%#%), aged 56, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 21 February 2020. He graduated
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’'s degree in
science in December 1986. In addition, Dr. Wong obtained (i) a master’'s
degree in business administration from the City University of Hong
Kong in November 1995; (ii) a master’s degree of science in electronic
commerce from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2003;
and (iii) a doctorate degree in business administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in February 2011. Dr. Wong has been a fellow of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (formerly known as
Hong Kong Society of Accountants) since July 2000.

From May 2002 to March 2007, Dr. Wong served as a vice president
at PCCW Solutions(formerly known as Unihub Limited), a company
primarily engages in the provision of information technology services.
From May 2010 to August 2014, Dr. Wong was the managing director
at Accenture Consulting for Greater China, a company primarily provides
management consulting and strategy expertise services. Since March
2015, Dr. Wong has served as a managing partner at Big Data Elite
Asia Limited and GCE Consulting Limited, both of which are consulting
companies, primarily providing advisory and training services in relation
to big data, digital transformation, FinTech and strategic management.
Since July 2016, Dr. Wong serves as an independent non-executive
director at Autotoll Limited, a company primarily provides electronic toll
clearing facilities in Hong Kong. Since September 2018, he serves as an
independent non-executive director at SCUD Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board (Stock code: 1399) and which primarily
manufactures and sells lithium-ion battery products. Dr. Wong also
serves as the Deputy President, Chairman of New Economy Committee
and Chairman of Training & Accreditation Committee of The Hong Kong
Independent Non-Executive Director Association Limited since October
2019.

Senior Management

Mr. Chew Yong Hock (E%:%&), aged 61, was appointed as the sales and
marketing director of Charming Printing in July 2012. Mr. Chew obtained
a higher stage certificate in salesmanship and sales management from
The London Chamber of Commerce and Industry in spring 1984. Mr.
Chew has more than 29 years of experience in the apparel labels and trim
products manufacturing industry.

Mr. So Shing Chuen (X 2), aged 56, was appointed as our general
manager in October 2017. Mr. So obtained a diploma in chemical
technology from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known
as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in November 1986. He then obtained a
higher certificate in manufacturing engineering of plastics from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong
Polytechnic) in November 1990. In November 1991, Mr. So was awarded
an endorsement certificate in management services at The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (formerly known as Hong Kong Polytechnic). He
then obtained a bachelor’'s degree in manufacturing engineering from the
City University of Hong Kong in November 1997. In November 2004, he
received a master of science automation systems and management from
the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. So resigned from his position as
our general manager due to job changes with effect from 9 April 2020.
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Mr. Richard Phillip Ringeisen, aged 61, was appointed as the president
of Charming US in February 2011 and is the director of Charming US.
Mr. Ringeisen studied at the Western Michigan University from 1979
to 1980. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Ringeisen worked as a western
region sales manager at US Label Corporation, a company primarily
sells and markets apparel identification products, from 1999 to 2001.
Mr. Ringeisen worked as a sales manager in the western region of the
United States at Alkahn Labels Inc, a company primarily engaged in the
sales business, from 2001 to 2003. Mr. Ringeisen then worked as a vice
president at 28 Packaging Inc, a company primarily engaged in the sales
and marketing business from 2003 to 2008. He later worked as a vice
president at Integra Trim, a company primarily engaged in the sales and
marketing business from 2008 to 2010 where he was responsible for
overseeing and managing the sales business of the company.

Mr. Liao Wenwei (EX{8), aged 51, was appointed as the general
manager of Charming China in August 2009. He obtained a diploma in
business administration from the Huizhou University in July 1997. From
April 1992 to July 2000, Mr. Liao worked as a salesman at Huizhou
Jiangbei Building Material Company* (JNTT4L2# A 7]), a company
primarily engaged in the trading business, with his last position being a
manager. Mr. Liao then worked as a factory manager at Boluo County
Shiwan Chuangmei Printing Factory* (1% & £ &8I EN{IK) from
August 2000 to July 2009.

Company Secretary

Mr. Chan Wai Shing Kevin (BR{E), aged 45, was appointed as the
finance and accounts manager of Charming Printing in February 2016 and
the company secretary on 17 May 2019. Mr. Chan obtained a diploma
in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University (formerly known
as Shue Yan College) in July 1998. He was then awarded a diploma in
operating business in China and a diploma in professional management
for China business from the City University of Hong Kong in April 2004
and October 2004, respectively. Mr. Chan has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since August
2008 and a member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administration since February 2010.

In view of Mr. Chan's experience in legal and company secretarial
functions and with stock exchange rules and regulations, our Directors
believe that Mr. Chan has the appropriate expertise for the purposes of
Rule 3.28 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determined by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at general
meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the Board with

reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the
results of the Group.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the provisions
of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, every Director or other
officer of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of assets
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Director nor a connected entity of a Director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements, or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the
year.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

A. Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company

The shares of the Company were only listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 12 March 2020 and therefore, the respective
Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
("SFO") and the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"”) were not applicable as at 31 December
2019.

As at the date of this report, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which
was notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of
the SFO, or which were otherwise required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, are
set out below:
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Long positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated — RZK 2 a]st B (58 % B R (7.2 47 &

corporations

Approximate
percentage of
the Company's/
the associate

Company/ Number and company’s
name of associated Nature of interest class of total issued
Name of director company and capacity securities share capital
(7N
2HEBRTRE
EERE ARE/BERRERE ERMEREH EHHARER MBXNBE S
Chan Sing Ming Barry ~ The Company Interest in a controlled 1,404,000,000 70.2%
corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
FREZEA ¥\ UNS| Bt AR R 1,404,000,0008%
(Hiat1)(HiaE2) B3
Charming International Limited Beneficial owner 57 shares of 51.0%
("Charming International ) US$1.00 each
ExBERA 510
F%1.00F LA RHD
Law Miu Lan Candy The Company Interest in a controlled 1,404,000,000 70.2%
corporation (Note 1) (Note 2) shares
EYH ¥\ UNS| Bt AR R 1,404,000,0008%
(Wiat1)(HiaE2) B3
Charming International Beneficial owner 49 shares of 49.0%
US$1.00 each
ExBERA 49%
F%1.00F LA RHD
Chan Tsz Fung - Beneficial owner 12,000,000 shares 0.6%
BRAEIE EaBAA 12,000,0008%
& 1n
Notes: Biat
1. Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued 1. BEMPLIENLMED B ZT S B8 %A Charming

share capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,404,000,000 Shares. International #)51% & 49% B 2 7% 4 - ifi Charming
International 8144 1,404,000,0000% 82 (5 = At + 1%
BHERAEGROINORERTE  REALEREYHL LT
# 1% &7 Charming International#¥ 7 #91,404,000,000
&A% R Ak o

Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in
1,404,000,000 Shares held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure
requirements of the SFO.

2. Mr. Barry Chan is the spouse of Ms. Candy Law. Accordingly, Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. 2. WHEMAEABUB LT RE - Bt BIEZAHLE
BIED - REATERBEYRLIREERESARE

2Bty 2t o

Candy Law are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other by virtue of
the SFO.
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Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

As at 31 December 2019, the shares were not listed on the Main
Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The respective Division 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and Section 336 of the SFO were not
applicable.

Saved as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of
the Directors and/or chief executives of the Company nor their
associates had or was deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
each of them has taken or deemed to have taken under the SFO), or
which would be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register required to be kept therein or which would be
required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial shareholders’ and other persons’ interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company

As at the date of this report, the following persons (other than the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) have interests of
5% or more in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

RAREISE I FEOEER (D 2 KB
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RAREEHRZIFE
Approximate

percentage of
the Company’s

Capacity/ total issued

Name of shareholder nature of interest Number of shares share capital
EARD R 2E

ERITRAMN

BRERES 2 17/ REmitE B &R BRBEAE
Charming International eneficial interest (Note) 1,404,000,000 70.2%

B
BEan (i)

Note:

Each of Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law owns as to 51% and 49% of the issued share
capital of Charming International which, in turn, holds 1,404,000,000 Shares. Accordingly,
Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law are deemed to be interested in 1,404,000,000 Shares
held by Charming International by virtue of the disclosure requirements of the SFO.
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Short positions in shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations

As at the date of this report, no person, other than the Directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in
the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive's interests and/
or short positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company”
above, had registered an interest or a short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

INTEREST OF THE COMPLIANCE ADVISER

In accordance with Rule 3A.19 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
appointed Elstone Capital Limited (“Elstone"”) as the compliance adviser.
As notified by Elstone, compliance adviser of our Company, neither
Elstone nor any of its close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
and none of the directors or employees of Elstone had any interests in
the share capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities, if any) which is required
to be notified to the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules as at the date
of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

The Company has appointed Ernst & Young as the auditor of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2019. A resolution for their
reappointment as auditors of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Chan Sing Ming Barry
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 March 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BEN RS

Ernst & Young
22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Cirtek Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Cirtek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 41 to 112, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary
of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

BB RTEIEFSAN Tel E:E: +852 2846 9888
EBPRARE 15 Fax {EE: +852 2868 4432
FEKE 22 12 ey.com
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the
basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

BREEE
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statements.

Key audit matter
BRENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
TENENMEEBRRENSE

Impairment assessment on trade receivables

2 2 BUGRRRBER G

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded trade
receivables of approximately HK$48,675,000 before
impairment of HK$348,000. Under HKFRS 9, the Group
accounted for the impairment on trade receivables with a
forward-looking expected credit losses (“"ECL") approach.
The measurement on the Group's trade receivables under
the ECL approach was estimated by management through
the application of judgements and use of highly subjective
assumptions. The impact of current economic factors, and
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors were also
considered in management’s assessment of the likelihood of
recovery from customers.

72019412 A318 + M1 %348,000/8 THIRER © HEEER
188 5 e FRIE 48,675,000/ 7T - BIRE BB E LR E9
5 ESERBAEMEREEEE(THREEEE]) EH
BHRYGRIBREETENREE - E5ENESHREKRFIARE
BHEEEEEANGE D HEEEERERAMRERAREE
B REm AT - BIREH B P BRE A selt 2 FE L 7N E B
EBAEACRREERZRAEERRZ ZZ -
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Our audit procedures included assessing the controls
over the monitoring of trade receivables; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the ECLs; understanding and discussing with
management for judgement used under the ECL approach;
assessing historical loss pattern and reviewing subsequent
settlements after the year end; and assessing the current
economic condition and forward-looking information by
checking to the economic indicators.
EENFTEFERTRHERE S BRKRFENZER : 57
fth BEXEERGEEHREEEBEERMANTE  BASERRE
® THRREEBEENREREEBERAZETAERNA
B T REEEREAREHFRENEREE  REBRSE
KOBARIRETE B ATAB AR R ATHE L& H -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Key audit matter

BRESBE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EENFTUMEERREENSE

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the application
of significant judgement and estimates, we considered it as a
key audit matter.

HEMRET=E -

The related disclosures are included in notes 4 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEREHN G A B RRM T4 R%18 -

Provision for inventories

FERE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded inventories of
approximately HK$44,565,000 and no provision for inventories
was recorded. The write-down of inventories to net realisable
value was estimated by management through the application
of judgement and the use of highly subjective assumptions.
M2019F12A31H - EBEEEEFE#44,565,000/ 7T K
EEEEFERE BEEABERAERSEEBMRERMETH
BIFEZ AR EE -

The related disclosures are included in notes 3, 4 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

HEARESHNGEMBRERMES - 4217 -

Our audit procedures included obtaining an understanding of
management’s controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other inventory items
whose costs may not be fully recoverable; evaluating the
methodologies, inputs and assumptions used by the Group
in calculating the provision; and assessing the provision by
reviewing subsequent sales and usage after the year end and
checking the historical sales records.
EENETEFEEERERBEHNEIRAERE 8% -
T BRIAREMAREEZ BB EEKANTFE 2 #EH 5
it BEXREFERERMBNTE BAERRRE  RERE
BIEE A4S B 18 H 12 306 BT £ S S B SR 1E H B - ARATARE
BEREAAR -

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

FIHRA B E A E R

BRREREAAMEREESE - HMWEK B
BREFHRTMESNER  ETEEAEPBHREK
KBS T H R EE S o
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

Cirtek Holdings Limited « 2019 Annual Report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

30 March 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

o A4S 32
meiEmR

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019512A31HIEFE

B

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FHExT FHT
REVENUE g 6 352,937 371,883
Cost of sales HER A (178,168) (209,473)
Gross profit EF 174,769 162,410
Other income and gains E A Rz 6 5,701 3,642
Selling and distribution expenses HENDHEFY (44,053) (40,343)
Administrative expenses THRX (83,808) (76,849)
Other expenses Hbf (928) (305)
Finance costs BE AN 8 (2,735) (2,770)
Listing expenses ailiaba 7 (11,030) (4,030)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX FREE AEF 7 37,916 41,755
Income tax expenses FriS A sz 1 (11,434) (8,020)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 26,482 33,735
Attributable to: PATR AT FE(L -
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZZ =N 25,331 31,940
Non-controlling interests IEVE AR HE 25 1,151 1,795
26,482 33,736
EARNINGS PER SHARE AAREEARIEEBRER HK cents HK cents
ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF B oAl
THE COMPANY
—Basic and diluted —HARREE 13 1.69 2.13
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

™ AL 3z
FmeatmElmT
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019512A31HIEFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER F#T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRER 26,482 33,735
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hip 2wz (518)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that REZBREBESENHES
may be reclassified to profit or loss BEHEM AR,
in subsequent periods: (E1E) :
Exchange differences: PE 5 Z%E -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign & GINETEE A HIIE H =48
operations 772 (932)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FREHEWHLE
FOR THE YEAR 27,254 32,803
Attributable to: AT AL FEL :
Owners of the Company RARHEA A 26,178 31,056
Non-controlling interests PR e e 1,076 1,747
27,254 32,803

Cirtek Holdings Limited « 2019 Annual Report



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2019
A2019412A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
ih=s FHExT FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -« WE K& 14 76,559 83,675
Prepayments and deposits AR RERES 19 1,307 1,892
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 58,486 67,857
Total non-current assets B EELE 136,352 153,424
CURRENT ASSETS RBAE
Inventories FE 17 44,565 41,468
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 18 48,327 41,668
Prepayments, deposits and BREZE - ZE R
other receivables H At i Y A 19 12,972 10,189
Due from the ultimate holding company FEH&Egﬂ% NG E/ ] 20 22 -
Due from a director el — %§$MIE 21 290 1,088
Cash and cash equivalents BENBEEEY 22 43,807 22,958
Tax recoverable AT el 7 18 65 51
Total current assets MEEERE 150,048 117,422
CURRENT LIABILITIES nEBEE
Trade payables B 5 et A 23 35,381 30,495
Other payables and accruals E{mﬁﬁﬁ,ﬂl@!&ﬂg.ﬁrgﬁﬁ 24 32,557 34,723
Interest bearing bank borrowings SHEERITER 25 18,257 12,737
Dividend payable FEHH& 8 12 - 10,500
Due to directors %1#%%%(15 21 403 8,655
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 11,626 15,195
Tax payable JERT IR 10,353 1,146
Total current liabilities mENE R 108,577 113,451
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 41,471 3,971
TOTAL ASSETS LESS EEABRRBEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES 177,823 157,395
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEME
Other payables Eﬁﬂf‘éﬁmlﬁ 24 841 993
Interest bearing bank borrowings T BIRITIE K 25 2,469 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 30,209 39,360
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEAE 26 334 326
Total non-current liabilities SEmB B EERE 33,853 40,679
Net assets AEFE 143,970 116,716
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of BARHERE ABLES
the parent
Share capital % 27 —* -
Reserves EE 28 143,970 112,762
143,970 112,762
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR M 2 - 3,954
Total equity e 143,970 116,716
@ Less than HK$500 DRB0074 7T

CHAN Sing Ming Barry [REZES
Chairman and Executive Director E/ENK#HiTEE

LAW Miu Lan Candy ZEX#
Executive Director #7T7E%E
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Gy L TES

Year ended 31 December 2019

HE2019F12A31HILFE
Attributable to owners of the Company
ADRER AR
Exchange Non-
Share Share Merger  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total interest equity
i kit &fE otk NERBRE REEA a FERER BREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL Th ThL TAT T ThL Thr ThL
(note27)  (note 28(c))  (note 28(al)  (note 28(b))
(Wk27)  (W&2s)  (WEEse)  (AiEE2s(ol)
At 1 January 2018 #2018%141R - - 2,920 (5,489) 84,275 81,706 2,207 83913
Profit for the year Epigf - - - - 31,940 31,940 1,79 33,735
Other comprehensive loss EREHEERE
for the year
Exchange differences on BRI EHEEN
translation of foreign operations ~ EREH = © - (884) - (884) (48) (932)
Total comprehensive income EnZEYEEE
for the year - - - (884) 31,940 31,056 1,747 32,803
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A318 R
1 January 2019 201981718 - - 2,920% (6,373)* 116,215* 112,762 3,954 116,716
Profit for the year EREF - - - - 25,331 25,331 1,151 26,482
Other comprehensive income EREh2ENE
for the year
Exchange differences on BEMNEBELS
translation of foreign operations ~ EREH - - - 847 - 847 (75) m
Total comprehensive income ERZENRES
for the year - - - 847 25,331 26,178 1,076 21,254
Issue of a new share upon HRRUAAFRE S
incorporation of the Company 1Rk 4 - - - - 4 - 4
Acquisition of subsidiaries under  REEANE ZFEHE
common control pursuant to HEBAF
the Reorganisation - 201,488 (196,458) - - 5,030 (5,030) -
At 31 December 2019 R2019612A31H -+ 201,488* (193,538)* (5,526)* 141,546* 143,970 - 143,970

*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$143,970,000 * REEHBHRRR ZERBREINBEGAHBE

(2018: HK$112,762,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 143,970,000/%7C(20184F : 112,762,000 7T) °
#  Less than HK$500 # DRB00ETT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/]_\/\fﬁzﬁlﬂbi'%:z
Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019F12A31BILFE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING KRETEZIHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax Rk R BT i ) 37,916 41,755
Adjustments for: FATSIEELFHE
Finance costs BhE Bk AR 8 2,735 2,770
Interest income B WA 6 (7) (8)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE - BE MK 1
property, plant and equipment, net TH B BEE (Ukzs )% 7 (87) 248
Loss on disposal of items of HEFHREEEEH E’JESTE
right-of-use assets 7 58 77
Depreciation of property, plant and VI - BE MREITE
equipment 7 17,326 15,088
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESENE 7 11,224 10,909
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5 U IBR R E KB 7 833 9
Write-back of trade payables B0 E 5N FIB 6 - 472
Amortisation of government grant BT 7 Bh 8 65 (135) (95)
69,863 71,225
Increase in inventories FEI (3,409) (4,836)
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FE W R IEE hn (7,712) (433)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and  FERT3RIE « £ S & E b FEL
other receivables SIBLE N (2,624) (2,338)
Increase in an amount due to the ultimate fEU SRR A B IEE 0
holding company (22) =
Increase in trade payables B 5 FE N 5I838 N 6,188 662
Increase/(decrease) in other payables Hith FEN X TE R fEAT &
and accruals #hn,/ Cd) (959) 1,776
Cash generated from operations KEMEIRE 61,325 66,056
Hong Kong profits tax paid BERNBEEFEH - (8,458)
Overseas taxes paid B REINEIE (1,731) (1,517)
Net cash flows from operating activities & & ZBFFERSMEFE 59,594 56,081
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZFH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received B4 FILE 7 8
Purchases of items of property, plant BEYE  BELXEEB
and equipment, including related (R IEAERE TR 30E)
prepayments (11,072) (39,052)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEYE - BEMKREERR
property, plant and equipment FriS 3118 87 166
Proceeds from disposal of items of right- HEFEREESEEB TS
of-use assets FIE 72 =
Payment to acquire right-of-use assets  UE&{F AREEENN R - (1,878)
Repayment from a director —HEFEN 796 -
Advance to a director M—BEFHRK - (348)
Net cash flows used in investing activities & & EENFTAIR ©HE F5E (10,110) (41,104)

BiE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

:NT\ Eﬁﬁﬁlbiﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2019
HE2019512A31HIEFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHZHERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FTILIRITE 20,320 8,458
Repayment of bank loans Wﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁgm (12,331) (14,138)
Interest paid EARFLE (2,735) (2,770)
Principal portion of lease payments T‘E@ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’\]ﬁﬁ%ﬁ’ﬁ (15,096) (13,993)
Dividend paid BEARRE (10,500) (4,500)
Repayment to directors ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ?ﬁ( (8,207) =
Advances from directors BEEIR - 934
Net cash flows used in financing activities EiE ESFTER & HE F58 (28,549) (26,009)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN HERBRESEEY
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS i, CHY) B a8 20,935 (11,032)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning E¥R & RREEEY
of year 22,958 34,209
Effect of foreign exchange rate EXRFENTEF
changes, net (86) (219)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT S XBE2RHBELZEY
END OF YEAR 43,807 22,958
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERREEEMERIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances RE RKRTTHEH 22 43,807 22,958
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI =T

31 December 2019
2019 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands. The registered office address of the Company is PO
Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman KY1-1108,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at 1/F, Wing Ming Industrial Centre, 15 Cheung Yue Street,
Lai Chi Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company made
an offer to the public for subscription of its new shares (the “Share
Offer”) in connection with the listing of the Company’s shares (the
“Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Dealings in the Company’s shares
on the Stock Exchange commenced on 12 March 2020.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the
year, the Group's subsidiaries were principally engaged in the
manufacturing and sale of printing products.

Charming International Limited (“Charming International”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"”) on 2
January 2019, is the immediate holding company of the Company,
and in the opinion of the Directors, which is also the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

NEREEER

RARAFRRAEHSTEMEINERARF °
N A A #) o 3 R 4k 4 PO Box 1350,
Clifton House, 75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands ©« "R G EEL
FBRBEBNESHXARBE 1G5 KATIE
B o

RIMEHRE - RARBARQ ARD R BB
ARGHERAR([BRA])ER EM(T £
MHHEARRSREBEFTBROOEL ([RRHDEE
£ |) o NATRXMN2020E3 12 B B A H

REE °

ARAH—RREERAT - RFR - REHA
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o
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Charming International Limited([ Charming
International | * —fE2019F1 A2BEXHE
BEHES((RBELZHE ) EMKZHRAF])
BARRARNEERIZERAR  2ERBEZA AT
BARBMREERAT

BEZRBMATE « 2019FERE

47 S



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

31 December 2019
2019 12H31H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AEREBER(E
Information of subsidiaries S A B E R
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are as follows: AKARBRARNFEBEHFT :
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered equity attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
TR BRTEER/
AR ERE AR EE AR AAREEREA DT TEXH
Direct Indirect
B %
Charming Printing Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
EXHRIERAR BE 10,000 7T (2018:95%)  $H & ENfIZE m
(2018% :
95%)
Charming Printing (Boluo) Ltd.” (note (a)) ~ People’s Republic of US$6,234,178 - 100 Manufacturing of printing
BEESEORAR A (Hia) China ("PRC") 6,234,178% T products
R ARME ([HE]) A R E
Charming Trim & Packaging (VN) Co., Ltd" Vietnam US$3,500,000 - 100  Manufacturing of printing
i) 3,500,000 7T products
A B2
Charming Trim & Packaging Company Hong Kong HK$2 - 100  Sale of printing products
Limited B 28T 45 EN Il E @
Charming Trim & Packaging (BD) Ltd" Bangladesh BDT50,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing of printing
a9 1o 50,000,000 products
RIMAER A DR EE
Charming Trim (BD) Co. Ltd" Bangladesh BDT5,000,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
EIEa 5,000,000 $H 5 EN R E
RIMAER
Charming Trim India Private Limited" India INR100,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
HE 100,000E0E & $H €5 EN Rl 2 oo
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AEREEBER(E
Information of subsidiaries (Continued) M A RMNER (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ ordinary/ Percentage of
registration registered equity attributable
Company name and business share capital to the Company Principal activities
TR BRTEER/
AR BB AR E AR RABEMEERADL FEEK
Direct Indirect
HE s
Charming Trim & Packaging (PVT.) Pakistan PKR100,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
Limited" EBEAA 100,000 $H 5 Il E @
BEAAEL
Charming Trim & Packaging, Inc” United States of US$10,000 - 100  Sale of printing products
America 10,000 7T (2018:80%) K& ENmIZE m
EFZERE (2018% :
80%)
Lowatag Limited* Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Investment holding
& 18T KRB
Charming Europe BVBA*" Belgium EUR50 - 100 Provision of customer
AL 0BT (2018: 75%) services
(20185 : REEFIRYS
75%)
Charming Printing (SZ) Ltd" (note (b)) PRC RMB50,000 - 100 Provision of customer
Charming Printing (SZ) Ltd" (Fff&£(b)) HE AR50,0007T services
R E P BRTS
Cirtek Investment Limited" BVI US$1 100 - Investment holding
RBRAHEES (E KRB
Notes: B EE -

(a)  This entity is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under the laws of the

PRC.

(b)  This entity is registered as a limited liability company under the laws of the PRC.

* Mr. James Chan Tsz Fung, son of Mr. Barry Chan Sing Ming (“Mr. Barry Chan”) and

Ms. Candy Law Miu Lan (“Ms. Candy Law"), is the major shareholder of these entities

and has been managing these entities under the direction, instruction and authority of

Mr. Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law. These entities contributed an insignificant portion

of profit or loss, and assets and liabilities to the Group.

Young global network.

Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst &

(@) ZEEBRETEAREMAIEEERE -

(b) ZEEBRETEEREMABREMEDE -

o BREEEAL(RRRERLE(TRERLL D REYHRZ
T(RYBLZTDNRF)RRSEBHERZER - I
—EHERRREPALAERBYRLLNER - 5| RERE
EEZERE ZEEBAAEBEEMTEALPINE

W AERRAME -

ABEBLZOK G M EBARS —RLKBRBEET

R EBEE
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2.1 BASIS OF PRESENTATION

For the listing of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange, the
Company underwent a group reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”),
further details of which are set out in the Company’s prospectus
dated 28 February 2020. Pursuant to the Reorganisation, the
Company became the holding company of the companies now
comprising the Group on 28 May 2019. The companies now
comprising the Group were under the common control of Mr.
Barry Chan and Ms. Candy Law (collectively the “Controlling
Shareholders”), who are spouses and have been acting in concert
for control over the Group before and after the Reorganisation.
Accordingly, these financial statements for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 have been prepared by applying the
principles of merger accounting as if the Reorganisation had been
completed at the beginning of the year ended 31 December 2018.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 include the results and cash
flows of all companies now comprising the Group from the earliest
date presented or since the date when the subsidiaries and/or
businesses first came under the common control of the Controlling
Shareholders, where this is a shorter period. The consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019
and 2018 have been prepared to present the assets and liabilities
of the subsidiaries and/or business using the existing book values
from the Controlling Shareholders’ perspectives. No adjustments are
made to reflect fair values, or recognise any new assets or liabilities
as a result of the Reorganisation.

Equity interests in subsidiaries and/or businesses held by the parties
other than the controlling shareholders prior to the Reorganisation
are presented as non-controlling interests in equity in applying the
principles of merger accounting.

All intra-group transactions and balances have been eliminated on
consolidation.
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2.2 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.2 REE%E

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) (which
include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations) issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

All HKFRSs effective for the accounting period commencing from
1 January 2019, together with the relevant transitional provisions,
have been early adopted by the Group in the preparation of the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention and are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority
of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to
transactions between shareholders of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.
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B BREEMN(TEEHBHREEL L) (B
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EIERBE IR -
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BT (THETT) °

fRE ABREEE

REVBRREEAEEEZ2019F12A31
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2.2

2.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change in
the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
(i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair
value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share of components previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or
loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities.

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Definition of a Business'
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material'

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
9 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2.3 EEMGEMRENNE BT EREED(2Z)

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional guidance
on the definition of a business. The amendments clarify that
for an integrated set of activities and assets to be considered a
business, it must include, at a minimum, an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of acquiring
the business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive processes
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus
on goods or services provided to customers, investment income or
other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments
provide guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration test
to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. Since the
amendments apply prospectively to transactions or other events that
occur on or after the date of first application, the Group will not be
affected by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge
accounting to continue during the period of uncertainty before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships which are directly
affected by these uncertainties. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Early
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS
28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. The amendments
require a full recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the
completion of a broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition of
material. The new definition states that information is material
if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be
expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend
on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of
information is material if it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions made by the primary users. The Group expects
to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

The management of the Group does not anticipate that the adoption
of the other revised HKFRSs will have a significant financial impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Company is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that
give the Company the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Company considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power
over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Company’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to
whether there is an indication that previously recognised impairment
losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used
to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which
it arises.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family
and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity
(or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of
the entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group
or to the parent of the Group.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M AT

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced at
intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used
for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms

Plant and machinery 10%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any
gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

31 December 2019
2019 12H31H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is,
or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period
of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach
for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a right-
of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to dismantle
and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying
asset or the site on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2 to 30 years
Plant and machinery 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the
end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a
purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

(c)

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, and payments of penalties for termination
of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the
option to terminate. The variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of
lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest
and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is
a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in lease
payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in assessment of
an option to purchase the underlying asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to its short-term leases of machinery and equipment (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2019 12H31H

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception
of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out
for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income, it
needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI"”) on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to
how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows.
The business model determines whether cash flows will result
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. IEEHBEME(E

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or
part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised
(i.e., removed from the Group's statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the
Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards
of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the
Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying
amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Group could be required to repay.

EREEE)
KRBT E(E)
BB A G B A2 B EE (EFTA)

REBHERATTEN SR EERRERERAN X
ERTE - WA TRE - REREBBRREERL L
®R - ERERERRBERTER -

SREE(RMER  FREREERELUS
BMEEAMNN D) EEE TIIE R K L7
ROAMEAKBEN A BARKBER)

o WEEWIRZRENENTEm X

o AEEEBRHANGEERIBRSRENE
Mo HEAERE [EM | ZHmEEEX
JER T BB EWRRAS REXNAESE
=ENERE  HQAKREELKEENR
REDo Lo K (O 3R - o (b) AN = [ 3 %
BERIRBEEENABMARR @R
BEERE ER G -

fi AN 52 [ 2 S A B B BRI 8 RO RE A =X
BT ENRZE AR EREEZEE
MR R & HRIA KB IR o fwE i
IR E B E AR AR D @ K [ 3 e o
BEMENE AEESRFHESENREE
BERRAEHEREE - EXBERT  AEETT
HERERAE - BENEEMMIBA GRRRBR
AEERBOENREENEESE -

NERTAFEL2ECEBNEE - HREE
RERE{EEAREH AR EREENRRE
SHENREEE -

BEZRBMATE « 2019FERE

61



62

NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

31 December 2019
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which
there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss
allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining
life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers
reasonable and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking
into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables and
contract assets which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting
date (but that are not purchased or originated credit-
impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient of
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk,
but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix
that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an
effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amounts due to
directors, interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and, in
the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits,
and short term highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three
months when acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks,
including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which
are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable
that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting period
of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present value amount
arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating
to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit
or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

e when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to compensate,
are expensed. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value
is credited to a deferred income account and is released to the
statement of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised
will not occur when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer
of goods or services to the customer for more than one year,
revenue is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the customer
at contract inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the
promised goods or services is one year or less, the transaction price
is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing component,
using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of printing products

Revenue from the sale of printing products is recognised at
the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the
customer, generally on delivery of the printing products.

Some contracts for the sale of printing products provide
customers with rights of return. The rights of return give rise to
variable consideration.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(a) Sale of printing products (Continued)

(i) Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right to
return the goods within a specified period, the Group
estimates the goods that will not be returned using the
most likely amount method to predict the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. For goods that are expected to be
returned, instead of revenue, a refund liability is recognised.
A right-of-return asset (and the corresponding adjustment
to cost of sales) is also recognised for the right to recover
products from a customer.

(b) Freight and transportation income

Freight and transportation income is recognised when the
services have been provided to customers.

Revenue from other sources
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the
estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial
instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities are recognised
as revenue when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates defined contribution retirement benefit
schemes in Hong Kong and overseas for those employees who
are eligible and have elected to participate in the schemes.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the schemes. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group's employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed
into the schemes, except for the Group's employer voluntary
contributions, which are refunded to the Group when the employee
leaves employment prior to the contributions vesting fully, in
accordance with the rules of the scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The
capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed
in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends
are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the memorandum and bye-laws of the relevant companies
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using that
functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in
fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose
fair value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary
asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration,
the date of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rate for
the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation
reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rate for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in the financial statements.

Determining the method to estimate variable consideration and
assessing the constraint for the sale of printing products

Certain contracts for the sale of printing products include a right
of return that gives rise to variable consideration. In estimating
the variable consideration, the Group is required to use either the
expected value method or the most likely amount method based on
which method better predicts the amount of consideration to which
it will be entitled.

The Group determined that the most likely amount method is the
appropriate method to use in estimating the variable consideration
for the sale of printing products with rights of return, given the large
number of customer contracts that have similar characteristics.

Before including any amount of variable consideration in the
transaction price, the Group considers whether the amount of
variable consideration is constrained. The Group determined that the
estimates of variable consideration are not constrained based on its
historical experience, business forecast and the current economic
conditions. In addition, the uncertainty on the variable consideration
will be resolved within a short time frame.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
described below.

Useful lives and impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation charges for its items of property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of
the actual useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result
of technical innovations and its competitor actions. Management
will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are shorter
than those previously estimated, or it will write off or write down
technically obsolete assets that have been abandoned.

The carrying value of an item of property, plant and equipment is
reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable in accordance
with the accounting policy as disclosed in the relevant part of this
section. The recoverable amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment is calculated as the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, the calculations of which involve the use
of estimates.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography and customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the next year
which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the apparel
product sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each
reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions
may also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in
the future. The information about the ECLs on the Group's trade
receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

Write-down of inventories

Management reviews the condition of inventories of the Group
and makes provision against obsolete and slow-moving inventory
items which are identified as no longer suitable for sale or use.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review at the end of
each reporting period and assesses whether any provision should
be made against obsolete and slow-moving items. Management
reassesses the estimation at the end of each reporting period.

The identification of obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
requires the use of judgement and estimates. \Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact on
the carrying values of inventories and the write-down of inventories
recognised in the periods in which such estimates have been
changed. The carrying amount of inventories as at 31 December
2019 was HK$44,565,000 (2018: HK$41,468,000).
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

For management purposes, the Group has only one reportable
operating segment, which is the manufacture and sale of printing
products.

Geographical information

(a) Revenue from external customers

HEEMS AEEEE —EAT2REES

B BNAERHEENRIER °

A

(a) SMEBEF Has

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$000 HK$'000

FHExT T

Hong Kong B 97,895 112,996
Mainland China f B At 88,362 92,602
Bangladesh EawIEavk 34,264 37,350
Vietnam FE) 20,688 19,382
United States Ee] 17,429 19,074
Others Hith 94,299 90,479
352,937 371,883

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers.

(b) Non-current assets

A B E R T IRIBER P A E7 o

(b) FERBEE

2019 2018

201945 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Hong Kong B 8,437 11,028
Mainland China PR S A 93,355 104,393
Bangladesh Eami kv 15,823 18,548
Other countries ERETER 17,868 18,340
135,483 152,309

The non-current asset information above is based on the
locations of the assets and excludes financial instruments.

e IERBEEE R IRIBE EMEH
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31 December 2019
2019612318
5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. REHHER(E)
Information about a major customer BREFZEEFNER
Revenue from a major customer, including a group of entities which (EREEKRZRI0%KINA EZFTERE(BIED
are known to be under common control with that customer, which MEZEES RSN —EEE)NKRSE
accounted for 10% or more of the Group's revenue is set out below: FEnT -
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT T
Customer A Z2EA 38,908 47,725
The revenue from the above major customer was all derived from KELMFERENWSYEES B SR E
the sale of printing products. m °
6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. WHEMUREMEARKE
Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after WAEFANEWMERE « B ST R EHEE
allowances for returns, trade discounts and rebates. BEHEERHNBEZFE -
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income and gains is as AEBH W AR EMBA RKZEAITHT :
follows:
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT T
Revenue from contracts with customers EREEH W=
(i) Disaggregated revenue with information (i) W25 a9 &
Type of goods or services REmBARSER
Sale of printing products S e ENRIE S 352,937 371,883
Geographical markets 35 T 45
Hong Kong B 97,895 112,996
Mainland China PR S A 88,362 92,602
Bangladesh EpliEana 34,264 37,350
Vietnam B 20,688 19,382
United States ESE 17,429 19,074
Others Hit 94,299 90,479
352,937 371,883
Timing of revenue recognition TR R HY B
Goods transferred at a point in time A — B ] BB FZ A
= 352,937 371,883
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B R R R Y 5
6. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME (Continued) 6. WA R EARAR K (&
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EEASHWES(E)
(i) Disaggregated revenue with information (Continued) (i) WzsZ| 5B ER (1)
The followﬁng tablelshows the amolunt-sl pf revenue ret.:og‘nised TEHTFRET S AL LB EHE R
that were included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of 5o
the years: h
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Sale of printing products $HE ED Rl 2 G 8,416 9,518
(i) Performance obligations (i) BRIEIT
Sale of printing products 25 & EJfl 2 an
The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the BHBEERRMNERIEMRBER - MR
printing products and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 —RRRARFEB0E0AANEE - EFE
days from delivery, except for new customers, where payment FBRINEFR—RFERLEMK) - @RIE
in advance is normally required. Some contracts provide WA AERRE  EXEXRGIAA
customers with a right of return which gives rise to variable BE o
consideration subject to constraint.
As the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or R 20194F KX 2018F 12 A31 HH T RE
partially satisfied) as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are part of KD EXNBHNETAREBHRFEHA
contracts that have an original expected duration of one year or —FHURNELN 2885 - BB
less, the transaction price allocated to such is not disclosed, as BMEERE 1RO AIITRE L A A
permitted by the practical expedient in HKFRS 15. FWERBRSREEBREANRSE -
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Other income and gains HabUg A & s
Freight and transportation income EiERERKA 536 162
Interest income FLEWA 7 8
Sale of scrap materials SHEREZEM R 2,011 421
Write-back of trade payables B E& 5 R IE - 472
Government grant* BT R B * 532 308
Foreign exchange differences, net PE i = B5RE 1,446 1,418
Others Hi 1,169 853
5,701 3,642
*  Asat 31 December 2019 and 2018, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other ¥ R2019F %2018F12A31H » AEEC BRMNK
contingencies attaching to the government grant that had been recognised by 48 B I 48 B 75 SR 328 B O AR R Sl EL b B SR SR o
the Group.
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2019%12A31H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

BRBE AT R

AEBEHBRBADE R L (GEA) TFIEE

BB
2019 2018
2019F 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 3E FHER T
Cost of inventories sold* B EFERA 178,168 209,473
Depreciation of property, plant and Y  BERKETE
equipment 14 17,326 15,088
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 15 11,224 10,909
Short-term lease expenses EHEERY 43 =
Employee benefit expense (excluding RBEEFNBZ (e
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): E=FHM(HIEE9)) -
Wages and salaries TERS® 104,710 99,654
Pension scheme contributions BIRESETEIME K 11,828 11,484
116,538 111,138
Government grant** R AT e By * * (532) (308)
Auditor’s remuneration % &5 2 A 1,611 736
Listing expenses ailibg 11,030 4,030
Foreign exchange differences, net EHEREFEE (1,446) (1,418)
Impairment of trade receivables* B 5 W IERE 18 833 9
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEWE  BEMEE
property, plant and equipment* 1B H 8B (Es)* (87) 248
Loss on disposal of items of HEFRAEEEEBN
right-of-use assets* EE* 58 77

statement of profit or loss.

*%

These items are included in “Other expenses” on the face of the consolidated

The government grant has been received from the local government. It mainly

represented compensation of the unemployment insurance paid to the local

government and the acquisition of the Group’s new machines, which are transferred

from deferred income to profit or loss over the useful lives of the relevant assets.

There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

& Cost of inventories sold includes HK$67,326,000 (2018: HK$64,003,000) of employee
benefits expense, and depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets which are also included in the respective total amounts disclosed above for

each of these types of expenses.
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RIEMA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: REKARDHIT -

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Interest on bank loans IRITERF S 601 441
Interest on lease liabilities HEAENE 2,134 2,329
2,735 2,770

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION 9. EERFETHAEMS

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies

RiEETHRA - BB QA EPIZE383(1)(a) -
(o) ~ () RNMEARAB (REEEFRER )R
PIE 2 RBEN R FEESTRERITRAES

(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is N
as follows:
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Fee we - =
Other emoluments: HAb B <
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EEREYEF 2,402 2,393
Performance related bonuses FKIRAERATEAL 1,496 2,616
Pension scheme contributions RSB 46 48
3,944 5,057

(a) Independent non-executive directors

There were no fees or other emoluments payable to
independent non-executive directors during the year (2018: Nil).

(a) BIFHTES

FRLEEN TEIGFRATEENBREN

H < (20184 : &) -
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S REMUNERATION 9. EEZERIEITHAEMS (&

(Continued)
(b) Executive directors (b) BITEE
Salaries,
allowances  Performance Pension
and benefits related scheme
Fees in kind bonuses  contributions Total
e 2HR 35 Bire
ik ENEA RERAL IR ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THr Ti#n Tin THET
Year ended 31 December 2019 EZ2019F12A31A LFE
Mr. Barry Chan FREEER 4 A - 1,200 748 17 1,965
Ms. Candy Law BEYRLT - 960 748 17 1,725
Mr. James Chan yed S - 242 - 12 254
- 2,402 1,496 46 3,944
Year ended 31 December 2018 £Z2018F12A31A LEE
Mr. Barry Chan RERLE - 1,200 1,346 18 2,564
Ms. Candy Law BYEaL - 960 1,250 18 2,228
Mr. James Chan RIS - 233 20 12 265
- 2,393 2,616 48 5,057
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or FR - EEMETT L LB ESR B HE
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2018: Nil). {EAIFE (20184 : £)
During the year, no remuneration was paid by the Group to the FA - AEBHMERNEEINHM - /EA
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or DOAZNEE B N A B A 22 B sk B Bk i (2

as compensation for loss of office.
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEESFHES
The five highest paid employees during the year included two (2018: hE&aHEEREMA(2018F  MA)E
two) directors of the company, details of whose remuneration are = OHFMABHER EXHFI - BT =4
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the three (2018%F : —R)IFEERSFHIEENHEF
(2018: three) remaining non-director, highest paid employees are as 1EBE T :
follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHExT FAT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RBREMER 6,993 5,885
Pension scheme contributions RIKSETEIMER 301 277
7,294 6,162
The number of the non-director, highest paid employees whose BRUTHMAERMNIEESZSHEE AW
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows: R
2019 2018
20194 20184
Nil to HK$1,000,000 L %1,000,000/%8 7T - -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000/ 7T - -
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,600,001 7cE=2,000,000/8 7T 1 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7E2,500,000/8 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001/ 723,000,000/ 7T - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001/ 723,500,000/ 7T 1 -
3 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of FR - AEERERTAFEEESERFIEEX
the non-director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or BN - {EA NN AZS 5 B S5 00 A B B9 22 Bl sl i
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office (2018: B8 (20184 : #&) o
Nil).
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11. INCOME TAX

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and
the BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands and the BVI. Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the
rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of
the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profit tax
rates regime effective from the year of assessment 2018/2019. The
first HK$2,000,000 (2018: Nil) of assessable profits of this subsidiary
is taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at
16.5%. PRC tax has been provided at the rate of 26% (2018: 25%)
on the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC during the
year. Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States,
a company which is treated as a corporation for the United States
federal income tax purposes was subject to a tax rate of 21% (2018:
21%) at the federal level during the year and was also subject to the
statutory corporate income tax in state and local tax jurisdictions.
Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

1. Fi5#H

BREFASHEREBEZESHAIIKER &
EEBANHSEERABRLEEHMIMN
Fiisfi - F - BEFGHHERREBEEDN
fhEH R H FI1216.5% Bl ReHR B » AR
EE R BRRRKRIN  ZHNBARARFE B
20182019 Bt F € #E A MY’ 4R I R 15 71
TRERFIZEEEE - %M B A7 E22,000,000
BT (20184 « £ ) K FE FR i i 71/428.25% WY
ARG - HeRMERTm A B2 16.5% H i =
B FEBEDRFEARPEEENGHE
FR T % FI L B R 25% (20184F : 25% ) 5HHE B
1% - BEEBEAERRRG - FARBEABATE
M E#EAEECENDRZER21 %/FE
(20184 :21% ) B ANESEFBES + INBBANIN G K
5 R AERAAE RS - fEEM
75 T FE R B M S A TR R B R A B TS
KEFERRNE IR o

2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER T
Current — Hong Kong BIHA— &

Charge for the year FRRAEZ 7,842 7,725

Current — Elsewhere BNER — H fib i
Charge for the year FRRAX 3,584 1,506
Deferred (note 26) BRI (P 5E26) 8 (1,211)
Total tax charge for the year FRRIBR T 258 11,434 8,020
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 1. FTiSH(E

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax
at the statutory rate to the tax charge at the effective tax rate is as

AR IBOR TE ot 2 38 P A e Tt Ot 1) 0 755 75 = B
REERBREOREFEROT

follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fax FBT
Profit before tax B 750 BT e £ 37,916 41,755
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 16.5% BEEMR16.5%TEMHIE 6,256 6,890
Lower tax rate enacted by local authority 75 & BEMARERIE
of 8.25% (2018: Nil) Fi$8.256% (20184 : &) (165) =
Effect of different tax rates for different TRREERTEMENTE
jurisdictions 989 422
Income not subject to tax BARTBRA (106) (556)
Expenses not deductible for tax A% A 2 3,224 1,896
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BARENB B A IEREE (100) (213)
Tax losses not recognised AIERH RSB 18 963 558
Others Hiptb 373 (977)
Tax charge at the Group's effective tax rate  IRANEE EEFI E30.2%
of 30.2% (2018: 19.2%) (2018%F : 19.2% )T E
B R sk 11,434 8,020
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12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Special dividend BRI B 10,000 =

The special dividend for the year has been declared and approved
by the Company’s shareholders at the board meeting held, and was
paid to the then shareholders, in February 2020.

The Directors have decided not to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2019.

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of HK$25,331,000 (2018: HK$31,940,000), and on the
basis of 1,500,000,000 shares of the Company in issue, which
represents the number of shares of the Company immediately
after the Reorganisation and capitalisation issue, but excluding
the 500,000,000 shares issued pursuant to the share offer of the
Company for its listing on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited on 12 March 2020, as if these shares issued
under the Reorganisation and the capitalisation issue had been
issued on 1 January 2018.

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive
ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 December 2019
and 2018.
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AARRERITHNESS SIS IR RIERF
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BEEEREFNEREE2019F12A31HLEF
ERRHAKS -

RRBEBABEZREF

BREARFNNSCEDEREARAEE A
JE 15 2N 4F 2 3% F1) 25,331,000 7T (20184 -
31,940,000 7t ) & 4% 748 A & 1,500,000,000
REBITRO(HERARRBRBEEMERER
{LBEITHRMHEE BEREERERAQRAR
2020F3 A 12 EE BB AR HMER A A
=+ T AR 4% 3% 15 8% & 2% 1T #9500,000,000
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AEEEITEITRRMD E 2018451 A1 B %17 »

RN EENE E20194 % 2018412 A31H
I FEWEEB/TEEET LR - s
HE A Z=2019F £ 2018612 A31 H IEF
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% BERRE

Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor
improvements machinery and fixtures vehicles Total
HEMEEE R R e BREEE AE act
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THL TR THT TR
31 December 2019 201912A31H
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A318 K%
1 January 2019: 201914818 :
Cost KA 13,634 166,616 6,837 1,736 188,823
Accumulated depreciation Z:HE (6,352) (92,097) (5,772) (927) (105,148)
Net carrying amount REFEE 7,282 74,519 1,065 809 83,675
At 1 January 2019, net of R2019F1 818
accumulated depreciation Nk 2:4E 7,282 74,519 1,065 809 83,675
Additions NE 1,305 8,916 307 824 11,352
Depreciation provided during R ERAE (fiz7)
the year (note 7) (1,141) (15,363) (462) (360) (17,326)
Exchange realignment EaEEE (91) (1,045) (10) 4 (1,142)
At 31 December 2019, net of ~ 72019F12A318 °
accumulated depreciation Nk RTE 7,355 67,027 900 1,277 76,559
At 31 December 2019: 20195128318 :
Cost BRA 14,817 173,459 7,069 2,615 197,960
Accumulated depreciation 2:E (7,462) (106,432) (6,169) (1,338) (121,401)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,355 67,027 900 1,277 76,559
31 December 2018 201812A31H
At 31 December 2017 and R2017F12A318 &
1 January 2018: 20181418 :
Cost A 6,124 138,453 6,481 1,667 162,725
Accumulated depreciation ZiE (5,815) (82,982) (4,985) (849) (94,631)
Net carrying amount REFE 309 55,471 1,496 818 58,094
At 1 January 2018, net of 12018%F1 818 -
accumulated depreciation Nk RTE 309 55,471 1,496 818 58,094
Additions NE 7,626 35,571 464 214 43,875
Disposal HE = (335) (53) (26) (414)
Depreciation provided during ~ ERFTERE(H:7)
the year (note 7) (573) (13,531) (811) (173) (15,088)
Exchange realignment B A% (80) (2,657) (31) (24) (2,792)
At 31 December 2018, net of 72018 12H318 °
accumulated depreciation Mk R E 7,282 74,619 1,065 809 83,675
At 31 December 2018: 2018128318 :
Cost A 13,634 166,616 6,837 1,736 188,823
Accumulated depreciation 2:E (6,352) (92,097) (5,772) (927) (105,148)
Net carrying amount REFE 7,282 74,519 1,065 809 83,675
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14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

At 31 December 2019, certain of the Group's plant and machinery
with a net book value of approximately HK$5,950,000 (2018: Nil)
were pledged to secure certain bank loans granted to the Group
(note 25).

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings, plant
and machinery and motor vehicles used in its operations. Leases of
plant and machinery generally have lease terms of ten years, while
buildings generally have lease terms between two to thirty years and
motor vehicles have lease terms of five years. Generally, the Group
is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside
the Group.

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and the
movements during the year are as follows:

14.

15.

% BERRE (&

MR2019F 128310 r AEERAFELN A
5,950,000 7L (20184 : )M E KRB
B LESETASEZETRITER(H
5£25) °

HE
REBEERABAA

REEE R ZEET - BB REEIARITHEIRE
AIAHESH  AHEEZEMA - BFE R
MEE-RERA TS METHHEHE—RHE
HR—z==+F mAENEE—REHAR
Fo—RME - AEETAIMAEEUIIAL
BEEOMEEEE -

(a) (EREEE

REBFAEAEEENKREEBERESHNT
T

Plant and Motor

Buildings machinery vehicles Total

By R R AE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR TR TR

At 1 January 2018 20181718 17,687 30,415 330 48,432

Additions NE 32,629 - - 32,629

Disposal k== - - (77) (77)

Depreciation charge (note 7) e (HiF7) (7,772) (3,052) (85) (10,909)

Exchange realignment [ 5 R (744) (1,456) (18) (2,218)
At 31 December 2018 and ®2018F12A31A K&

1 January 2019 20191418 41,800 25,907 150 67,857
Additions NE 2,924 - - 2,924
Disposal e - - (130) (130)
Depreciation charge (note 7) WESH (MF7) (8,296) (2,910) (18) (11,224)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% (537) (402) (2) (941)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12A831H 35,891 22,595 - 58,486
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEREBA(E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HEABNREERFAZBOT

during the year are as follows:

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 A1BREREE 54,555 39,624
New leases e 2,924 30,751
Accretion of interest recognised AE RN HF B 10
during the year 2,134 2,329
Payments ISEN (17,230) (16,322)
Exchange realignment FE 3 e (548) (1,827)
Carrying amount at 31 December W12 A31 B EEE 41,835 54,555
Analysed into: DA
Current portion bﬁébggﬁ‘j\ 11,626 15’195
Non-current portion JETEEE S 30,209 39,360
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 34 to AEABRNE BRI HRE N E34%
the financial statements. -
Certain of the Group's lease liabilities are guaranteed by AEEETHEAGAERBRREHENEA
personal guarantees provided by the Controlling Shareholders up FERPTER - 120194 2018512 431 H &
to HK$28,067,000 as at 31 December 2019 and 2018. = £28,607,00078 T ©
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15. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are

15. HE(Z&)

FEBERABEANE)

(c) WE&ETHERALEEFHENSENT

as follows:
2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENS 2,134 2,329
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEERNERY 11,224 10,909
Expense relating to short-term leases and BT HATR & MR TARERR
other leases with remaining lease terms 2019F12HA31 R
ended on or before 31 December 2019 RERNEMEERREN
(included in administrative expenses) A (GFATTE ) 43 =
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RIERERNALEE 13,401 13,238
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RHTE 2 FWRE
2019
20195
HK$'000
FHExT
Investment, at cost ®E - HKAE 201,488

Further details of the subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note

BRARBNE R R E — S EHNP R

1 to the financial statements. FHTEET ©
17. INVENTORIES 17. BE

2019 2018
2019F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHTT
Raw materials R 19,537 14,384
Work in progress ERH 11,660 12,157
Finished goods 2R fh 13,368 14,927
44,565 41,468
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWFIE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FBT FHIT
Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 48,675 41,708
Impairment B (348) (40)
48,327 41,668
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit, AEEHERFNESBRAREZANEER -
except for new customers, where payment in advance is normally EHEFPRINEFR—RFEEZELENK) - 5E
required. The credit period is generally within 90 days from the date Bi—M A A& EHERBI0RAN - BERFA
of monthly statements. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. =z ERE AAHREEREERETHE
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. B o REBEWAREHE 5 EIGKIBERTTR T
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements AEARKEMRESEELIA - EZRKFIE
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non- TEPE o

interest-bearing.

REHR - RIFERAH2IINE 5 EEGK
B REE) REONIT ¢

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RE
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss TA(
allowance, is as follows:

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHT

Within 1 month —EmAR 30,689 24,393
1 to 2 months — =& A 12,539 10,794
2 to 3 months M2 =1EA 2,023 2,937
Over 3 months HBE=1"A 3,076 3,544
48,327 41,668
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

18. EZEWFR(%)

B 5 RWFRRERNEIRREEE T

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHT

At beginning of year F47) 40 31
Impairment losses (note 7) A B R (KT EE7) 833 9
Amount written off as uncollectible g S mT Uk O] B ZR B (525) -
At end of year FR 348 40

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a
provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by geography and customer
type). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019

REE B E - RE D AT HR B B R TT
A ERBERER - BREXENAERLE
BRA (B R E PR S E PR B
BHBEH - ZAAERRAARETMELER - B
RERNBREAMASNEBEESER B8
A RR RSB R TRAI S B R A SEE#Y -

TXHEINAEERAREREETENE 5B
KA EERBRER

420195128311

Past due
k]
Current 1to 30 days 1to 3 months Over 3 months Total
Il 12308 12388 @838 A ast
Expected credit loss rate R ERERE 0.30% 0.69% 1.29% 4.08% 0.71%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000)  &BEEME(FHT) 28,670 13,427 3,560 3,018 48,675
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) EHAEEFE(TET) 86 93 46 123 348
As at 31 December 2018 72018%F12H31H

Past due
Current 1t030days 1to3 months Over 3 months Total
B 12308 1238A HEA3E A it
Expected credit loss rate EHEEEER 0.03% 0.05% 0.12% 1.22% 0.10%
Gross carrying amount (HK$'000) B E(THTT) 22,934 12,858 4,023 1,893 41,708
Expected credit losses (HK$'000) BHEEER(TEL) 6 6 5 23 40
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19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. FEFRRIE « RE R HEWFIE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAT
Prepayments BT IA 9,123 6,096
Deposits and other receivables & R H MK KIE 5,156 5,985
14,279 12,081
Less: Non-current portion B IERBNER S (a) (1,307) (1,892)
Current portion mENE 12,972 10,189

Note: BT

20.

(a)  The amounts mainly represent prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment and the non-current portion of rental deposits.

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables. The Group considers the historical loss rate
and adjusts for forward-looking macroeconomic data in calculating
the expected credit loss rate. The Group has classified financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables in
stage 1 and continuously monitors their credit risk. The financial
assets included in the above balances related to receivables for
which there was no recent history of default and past due amounts.
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the loss allowance was assessed
to be minimal.

BALANCE WITH THE ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amount due from the ultimate holding company is unsecured,

interest-free, repayable on demand and non-trade in nature. The
carrying amount of the balance approximates to its fair value.

20.

() ESB|IBRUBYE  BELRENBEAIREARBE
BENIERE D ©

AEBRA—BAABRTABNRE - B
REMEBURGRIENSBEEFELBHEREBE
B - AEEHEESEERIERNEERE
B IR R IR RIS M A BUC BB E L AE - &
E@BEFATENRE « e REMEKRKIER
CREESND BB R VHEEREEFER
e o FHlAERRFTEIEN S A EE I ST HE
At kB e BN ERKIBEER - K2019
£ 20185128310 » BHREBWTHAL
TEK o

BRGEER AR

Il

oin

EER
%

W EER A RFIAREERR - 28 - &2
REENBIFEZNEE - ZEHRNIREEEE

RNFERE
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21. BALANCES WITH DIRECTORS

The Group's balances with directors, disclosed pursuant to section
383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors)
Regulation, are as follows:

Amounts due from a director

21.

ERE EHAER

BRREE R ENEHIZE383(1)(d) & R & (KR ER
BEENmER)ROE=BRENAEEEE
EMAEBRAT

R — B EEFIA

Ms. Candy Law

EPWaL

HK$'000

FET

At 1 January 2018 20181 H1H 740
Maximum amount outstanding during the year FRAHZ = KREE S5 1,088
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 72018412 A31H &X20194181H 1,088
Maximum amount outstanding during the year FRZEAEE S5 1,088
At 31 December 2019 72019412 A31H 290

The Group has applied the general approach to provide for expected
credit losses for the amount due from a director. The Group
considers the historical loss rate and adjusts for forward-looking
macroeconomic data in calculating the expected credit loss rate. The
Group has classified the amount due from a director in stage 1 and
continuously monitors its credit risk. As at 31 December 2019 and
2018, the Group estimated that the expected credit loss rate for the
amounts due from a director was insignificant.

The amounts due to directors represented amounts due to Mr. Barry
Chan and Mr. James Chan as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.

The balances with the directors are unsecured, interest-free,
repayable on demand and non-trade in nature.
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22.

23.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22. RERREEEY

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT FHIT

Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTA R 43,807 22,958

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“"RMB") amounted to
HK$7,384,000 (2018: HK$1,866,000). The RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations,
the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy
banks with no recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the
cash and cash equivalent approximate to their fair values.

TRADE PAYABLES

RMEHR - FEEUAARE([ARE EHE
IR e RIEE SEWA7,384,000% £ (2018
4 : 1,866,000/87L) - ARETSERAKRAE
HEEE R BRI B R INE B I &)
AR #EE - EERMNIESERTE AEETR
BEEETINEEFNBRTHARBLIRAR

B -

RITHESIRERN T HRITERFIREZEF =X
REAE - RITERTERNEERIFAI B
HRRLEORIT - RERBSEEYNRE

BEEAERNFERS -

23. BEZEMNFIR

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the REREPRREZEZARENSHE FENFKIE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BREC DT :

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Within 1 month —EAR 29,573 23,186
1 to 2 months —ZEW{EA 3,762 5,014
2 to 3 months MZE=1EA 1,279 1,120
Over 3 months Bim =18 767 1,175
35,381 30,495

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled

on 30 to 60-day terms.

A e

BESRMNRETFTERBATNRI0HEECOHR
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24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

24, HMENRIER EFTEH

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BT FHET FHT
Other payables H b e RIE (a) 2,257 2,727
Accruals fE:tE A 26,186 23,444
Contract liabilities EHEE (b) 3,979 8,416
Deferred government grant 7 JIE 1B 7 6 B (c) 976 1,129
Less: Non-current portion B IERBE D (d) (841) (993)
Current portion mENE 32,557 34,723
Notes: B 5 -
(a)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have generally no credit terms. (a) HMOEMFIEATHE  —RIEEEEH -
(b)  Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (b) AHEFFBOT :
31 December 31 December 1 January
2019 2018 2018
20194 20184 20184
128318 12A31H 1A18
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
Short-term advances received from customers B &P UER K 28R 3,979 8,416 9,518

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver printing products to
customers. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2019 and 2018 were mainly due to

the decrease in short-term advances received from customers in relation to the sales

of printing products at the end of the year.

(c) The amount represents a government grant received from the Provincial Finance
Bureau, Huizhou Province. This government grant is assets-related and is amortised
over the useful life of the related assets, which is ten years since May 2018.

(d) The amount represents the non-current portion of a government grant.
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 25. FHERITEN
2019 2018
2019% 2018%
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate per rate per
annum Maturity HK$"000 annum Maturity HK$'000
ERER= = ThAr  BRFRE H/#A Titn
Current L
On demand On demand
Bank loans — unsecured (note (a)) 17 & 7 — EEA(FizE(a)) 2.4%-3.6% ED 16516 2.4%-3.6% REX 12,737
Bank loans — secured (note (b)) $R{TER — &M (M) 5.4% 2020 1,741 =
18,257 12,737
Non-current FENE
Bank loan — secured (note (b)) SR{TER - EM(HEE(D) 5.4% 2022 2,469 -
20,726 12,737
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Analysed into: R
Bank loans repayable: EERRTER
Within one year or on demand —FARAFIREK 18,257 12,737
In the second year F_F 1,835 -
In the third to fifth years, inclusive E=FFHE
(BIEEEMF) 634 =
20,726 12,737
Notes: B E
(a)  The bank loans are guaranteed by: (a) RITEFTVAUTEEER -
(i)  personal guarantees given by the Controlling Shareholders up to HK$48,895,000 () PEERBEATHBEALER RBEEHAESAH
(2018: HK$27,919,000) at the end of the reporting period; and 48,895,000/8 7T & (20184 : 27,919,000/ 7T )
(i) corporate guarantees given by a subsidiary of the Group. (i) AR A RS T HR AR °
(b)  Certain of the Group's bank loans are secured by plant and machinery with a net book b) AEBETRTBEXRDHBEHARAEAFENR
value of approximately HK$5,950,000 (2018: Nil) at the end of the reporting period. 5,950,000/ 7T (20184F : T ) KRR /E R 2R o
(c)  All bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollars. (c) FIAERITERBABITFHE -
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25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Ignoring the effect of any repayment on demand clause and based
on the maturity terms of the bank loans, the amounts repayable
in respect of the Group's interest-bearing bank borrowings were

analysed as follows:

25.

st ESRITERR (42)

WERMEIR ERERBEFN T EBARIFRTE
RE BB ESR - REEAF S RITERZEE
BEFRBDITT

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Analysed into: bakiiv=1
Bank loans repayable: EERRTER

Within one year —FERHIRENR 5,831 9,823
In the second year F_F 6,050 1,223

In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FFRF
(REEEMF) 8,845 1,691
20,726 12,737
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26. DEFERRED TAX 26. ELERE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities are as follows:

EIETRE BN ¢

Deferred tax liabilities IEEFIEEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation
IRBLIEITE
HK$'000
T
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1HA1H 1,537
Deferred tax credited to the consolidated FRFFALGEBRERD

statement of profit or loss during the year IRFERETE (BMFsE11)

(note 11) (1,211)
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 MN2018F12 A31H K201941 818 326
Deferred tax charged to the consolidated FRELGESBRRINBRE

statement of profit or loss during the year EEFE(KEET1)

(note 11) 8
At 31 December 2019 2019412 H31H 334

The Group estimated unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$41,887,000 (2018: HK$37,654,000). Unrecognised tax losses
arising in Hong Kong and certain foreign operations of approximately
HK$10,416,000 (2018: HK$9,947,000) are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which
the losses arose.

The Group estimated tax losses arising from certain foreign
operations other than Hong Kong in an aggregate amount of
HK$31,471,000 (2018: HK$27,707,000) that will expire in five years
to twenty years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as, in the opinion of the directors, they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and in the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

No deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries established in
Mainland China (2018: Nil). In the opinion of the directors, it is not
probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with the investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
HK$8,015,000 (2018: HK$4,460,000).

There are no income tax consequences attached to the payment of
dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

NEE T AR RIS E1E4941,887,0007%8 70
(20184 :37,654,000/87L) - REBRETE
HNEETREE AR M R FERR TR 75 518 49/%10,416,000
7B 7C(2018%F : 9,947,000 7T ) » A ZE R Hi /7
NI EAZ S BB Z AR Z R REZRE S
F o

NEBREFEEBRTBUIINE T EBINER
2R EIEA £/531,471,0008 7 (20184 -
27,707,000 L) - ZERMEEBEBERLE S
—+HEREE - DTAREEEEBENARZ
RIRFEERER o

BEERR HRAHBEERELBENNE
AEFE—BRER  RUERZFBRERR
JEFRIRE E - T ERR B A 1 B] BE R S AR
TAEE o

1% 4 k72 P B PR A AR ST PR AR AR TR AN B A AN
[ B /B 2 R A AR BB A 22 2k 2 FE A FE O FX 1T AR
E(EERTE (20184 @ ) - EERA © £
Al EER - ZEHB AR TAAED RZER
B o MR ERRIEE T T B AR AR B K BT BB
NEENER =R BHEAS $£58,015,000%8
7t(2018%F : 4,460,000/ 7T) °

ARAMEBRIEN R B BMAEBER -
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BB
As at
31 December
2019
120195
12831H
HK$’000
FET
Authorised: AR ¢
3,800,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 3,800,000% & %0.0178 o8 I B A% -
Issued and fully paid: BETRER :
250 ordinary shares 2500% & A% —*
An analysis of the movements in the Company's share capital ANATIREAR2019F1 8258 (MK B ER)
during the period from 25 January 2019 (date of incorporation) to 31 Z2019F 12 A31 BEARIM & & o4 -
December 2019 was as follows:
Number of
shares in issue Share capital
22817
B EE (&N
HK$'000
FHT
Issue of a new share upon incorporation of ML A R FE BT
the Company 1 _x
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control 181 & 40 Y BE £ R4 HI Y
pursuant to the Reorganisation 249 —*
At 31 December 2019 ®2019412H31H 250 =
*  Less than HK$500 * LRB00ETT
Notes: B &
(@) The Company was incorporated on 25 January 2019 with initial authorised share (a) ARAAR2019F1A25BFMKY - MHEERAR
capital of HK$38,000 divided into 3,800,000 shares of a par value of HK$0.01 each. On 38,000/ 7T+ 9 /3,800,000/% B AR EI1E0.0178 7T 19 ik
the date of incorporation, 1 ordinary share of HK$0.01 was allotted and issued by the 5 o RS B 8 - 18%0.01 B TR D B AL 3 R 3%
Company. TFARRF °
(b)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, on 21 February 2020, the authorised (b) RIBEHIRE » R202042A218 - & BRI
share capital of the Company was increased from HK$38,000 divided into 3,800,000 4,996,200,000 % &R E(E0.01 BTG + AR ALE
shares to HK$50,000,000 divided into 5,000,000,000 shares by the creation of an E A& 75 £1 38,0007 7T (5 43,800,000 AR A% 17 ) 14 o =

additional 4,996,200,000 shares of par value of HK$0.01 each.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

28.

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders of the Company passed
on 21 February 2020, the directors were authorised to allot and issue a total of
1,499,999,750 shares credited as fully paid at par to each of the holders of the
Company's shares whose names appear on the register of members of the Company
at the close of business on 21 February 2020 in proportion of their shareholdings by
way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$14,999,997.50 standing to the credit of the
share premium account of the Company.

(d)  Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company’s shares were listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 12 March 2020 and 500,000,000 ordinary
shares were issued at HK$0.25 per share on 12 March 2020 in connection with the
listing of the Company's shares on the Main Board.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein for
current and prior year are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 44 of the financial statements.

(a)

(b

—

(c)

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate of the paid up
share capital of the subsidiaries now comprising the Group
attributable to the Controlling Shareholders prior to the
Reorganisation.

The balance of the merger reserve at 31 December 2019
mainly represented the deemed distribution to the Controlling
Shareholders by issuance of the Company's shares pursuant to
the Reorganisation.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all relevant
exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations.

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par

value of the shares issued and the consideration paid for the
Reorganisation.

27. BAR(4&)

28.

FEE : (&)

(c)

R A DA R R 2020462 A21 BEBHEERE
R OEEEBEBANRRMDEERE THERSE
14,999,997 .50/ ST & A + F LAM 7202042 A 21
B EREARKZIARBRREMN SRR ARG
BB ARE R AR L AR 8 R 31T A $£1,499,999,750 %
REEARIL S ARG

(d) MIMEHR - ADRIMHHR2020F3 B 12 BEEBE R FTE
REM  WER20205E3 A 12 B RA R RBRBRER L
i 2 & A A% 13 0.25 7T #I B 45 £ 17500,000,000 f% 3 i
B o

@

AEERAFERBEFENRELEEZS S
BNPBRRFBIMEANGRSERZEHRET -

(a)

(b

—

(c)

BptHRE

B GHa R IE N B BT AR AR R B E TR A A
PSS BRI B A B 2 SR IR AN AR ER o

2019412 831 B A HBRABETE
EREEEEBRTAA ARG RIEME
BRAESIE o

HNERB G

SNE R B S RIER BN E S B R E
B O FT 7 FRRATE S 24 -

BHRE

RO aEBEREREAT S EBITRONEE
HENREZHNERE -
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29. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

29. BE&RERME

(a) BEEDELNEELD

Interest-
bearing bank Lease Due to
borrowings liabilities directors
STERITER HEERE EAESHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000
FAT TR FHT
2019 20194
At 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 R2018F 128318 K
20191 H1H 12,737 54,555 8,655
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREL 7,989 (15,096) (8,207)
New leases HEE - 2,924 -
Foreign exchange movement fE X &5 - (548) (45)
Interest expense FERAX = 2,134 -
Interest paid classified as financing cash flows HiEARER & RER
BRFIE - (2,134) -
At 31 December 2019 72019128318 20,726 41,835 403
2018 20184
At 1 January 2018 201841818 18,417 39,624 7,744
Changes from financing cash flows BEESRELY (5,680) (13,993) 934
New leases HHE - 30,751 =
Foreign exchange movement fE X &%) - (1,827) (23)
Interest expense FEMAL - 2,329 =
Interest paid classified as financing cash flows S AREELREN
BERFE = (2,329) =
At 31 December 2018 7#2018%12H31H 12,737 54,555 8,655
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29. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Major non-cash transactions

Lease commencement recognition of HK$2,924,000 (2018:
HK$30,751,000) was included in right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities.

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash flow for leases included in the statement of cash
flows is as follows:

29. REMBRMFE(E

(b)

(c)

TEFRERS
#381(2,924,000/& 7T (20184 : 30,761,000
BIL)MHERIG RO ACREEE
RHEEEE -

ME KR T H A

SARSRENHERSRBARNT

2019 2018

2019F 20184

HK$°000 HK$'000

FERT T

Within operating activities FTAKLEEE 2,177 2,329
Within financing activities SAREEE 15,096 13,993

30. COMMITMENTS

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

30. &IE

R|MEHR - AEEF AT EAAE

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHT
Contracted, but not provided for: EHEEES: L
Plant and machinery = e 231 333

31. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b

—

(c)

Outstanding balances with directors

Details of the Group's balances with directors are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.

Other transactions with related parties

Personal guarantees were given by the Controlling Shareholders
in favour of the banks in respect of banking facilities granted
to the Group. Further details of the transactions are included in
note 25(a)(i) and note 15 to the financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive's
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial statements.

31. ARG

(a)

(b)

(c)

AR ERESER

B ERE B AR SRR
H21VRE -

ERRARE 5 M E AR 5

TR R BLIR T A S E A IRITRVE LASRAT
BZEAMELEEAAER - RXSHNE—TF
1SS B 15 3R R M 5E25(a) () 2 M 5E15 ©
AEBFTESEAEHE
EERFEEBAEHESNE—LFBH
REF IS RE I FED ©
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

32. BERIESPMNERMT A

Financial assets at amortised cost RBHERATENEMEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Financial assets SREE
Trade receivables B S EIE 48,327 41,668
Financial assets included in prepayments, FTATENFIE -~ e REAER
deposits and other receivables RIENEREE 5,156 5,985
Due from the ultimate holding company FEUR Sx 4R 32 AR N BRI 22 -
Due from a director el — R EEHIA 290 1,088
Cash and cash equivalents BE MBS EEY 43,807 22,958
97,602 71,699
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REBERATENSREE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Financial liabilities eREE
Trade payables B SRR 35,381 30,495
Financial liabilities included in other STARMENFIERETER
payables and accruals HeREE 4,944 5,076
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT BERTTIE K 20,726 12,737
Dividend payables FERTAR B - 10,500
Lease liabilities HEARE 41,835 54,665
Due to directors ERNESRIE 403 8,655
103,289 122,018
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33.

34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, an amount due from the ultimate
holding company, balances with directors, financial assets included
in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade payables,
financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals and
dividend payable approximate to their carrying amounts largely due
to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of non-current deposits and other payables, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings have been calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities, and were assessed to approximated to their carrying
amounts. The Group’'s own non-performance risk for interest-bearing
bank borrowings as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018
was assessed to be insignificant.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments include cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, an
amount due from the ultimate holding company, balances with
directors, trade payables, other payables and accruals, interest-
bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and liguidity risk.
The board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies other
than the units’ functional currencies.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the
reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the Hong Kong
Dollar exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair values of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group's equity.

33.

34.

EMITANQIFERATFEER

BERENG RekReEEY BFHE
WHRIE -~ ERRASERARFR - ESEH
FTATRNFIE - ek EMEEFIEN SR E
E - BZENFTIR  FEAEMENRIEREST
ERNSREENRENRE 2R FEERR
EERE - HERBARZETAZHAREM
B o

EREB TR REMENKE  HEABKRE
IRITEROAFENIRERBEE B - &
ERkMes TR HER AT AE fral B rFI=
RESARRE S RENE - W HAEER
HEEHRE - AEEMN2019412 831 H %2018
F12 A31 B BIRITIERZ B A FEE A
B E B TERK °

B EREE BB RIBE

AEETENERTABGERELARESEE
Y BSEWHIR - e REMBYR - &
W RZER AR - HEENEER BFHE
IR - HENFEREER - sHERTT
ARk EERE -

AEESRTENTEZRABRAINERER « FI=x
Rk FERBEABESRAR - EFTER
ERpEEREESEZERROBEE - A
T o

Sk e

o

AEEHRRZEERR - ZFRRKE EE
BRERAEMNEEREAIINEEETZHES
BRAE -

TREIINHREBRENB H Ao 7] #E R
PAEENBERT - ANEE HIBR AT 7 A& [
MERAETERA RS2 GURE (T)
HREREERBENATFEREME)
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

34. BBEBREEBBERBEE

S E b ()

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) in Increase/
in exchange profit before (decrease) in

rate tax equity*
i PR A A RE=iEm/
(TF&) /() (R ) *
% HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT FAT
As at 31 December 2019 #2019%12831H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ HWARB A BTRE 5 (463) -
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ MARE N BITHE (5) 463 =
As at 31 December 2018 72018%F12H31H
If Renminbi weakens against HK$ WARB L BITRE B (1,062) =
If Renminbi strengthens against HK$ WARE A BTAE (5) 1,062 =

* Excluding retained profits
Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with floating
interest rates. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
the Group’s borrowings are disclosed in note 25 to the financial
statements. The Group's policy is to obtain the most favourable
interest rates available for its borrowings. Management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposures should the need arise.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period,
with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 34. iR REEEERBE (&

(Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FZ=E R ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in basis points before tax
HEEH BREE AEF
(~F&) 2, Crid)
HK$'000
T
As at 31 December 2019 $2019%12H31H
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (207)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 207
As at 31 December 2018 72018%F12831H
Hong Kong dollar BIT 100 (127)
Hong Kong dollar BIT (100) 127
The change in interest rates at the end of the reporting period, with WEMRONEEEH(EMEEMAIZE=%#
all other variables held constant, had no impact on the Group's equity BARENBRT)HAEBEE2019%F %2018
excluding retained profits for the years ended 31 December 2019 F12ANBIEFENER(TRERREF)
and 2018. R E -
Credit risk EERKE
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third AREEERZRARGCERINE=2X5 °
parties. It is the Group's policy that only well-established customers AEBNBREAEHRELEKANTFZ BRI
will be considered for open account terms and the approval of credit KRB EEHNEBEENBRECERERE
terms is subject to stringent credit check procedures. In addition, 7 oo A BN ESRE WIS EE T R AEER
receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis and the BERRBRITTERK °

Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure
to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which is mainly
based on past due information unless other information is available
without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as
at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts
for financial assets.

34. PEREEBBERBR (&

FERREE)
AR R FHEER

TREIM12AN AERAEEEEBRGR
EEEERHIE - BRIFEMENBAN TS
ERARB A ER)NEREEEBRRAR
SR A AR FRER SR - OISR
MEEZPREARHE

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218A
HHEERE 2HRAEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E1RER BB F3RER EHem % gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000 HK$'000
TR TR THER TER TiEn
As at 31 December 2019 #2019%12631A
Trade receivables B HRWE - - - 48,675 48,675
Financial assets included in prepayments, st AR 28 - &4 &
deposits and other receivables* Hit R EN S REE" 5,156 - - - 5,156
Due from the ultimate holding company WM& RN E]ZIAE 22 - - - 22
Due from a director [Eh—2E=E 290 _ - _ 290
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEN 43,807 - - - 43,807
49,275 - - 48,675 97,950
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

FERREE)

34. PHEREEBERBEEK(E

RAEE R FEIEER ()

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8A
BHEEER 2HRHEERR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB BB ERlt BinE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T5n Tir Thr Tin Ti&n
As at 31 December 2018 R2018F12A318
Trade receivables B S MEME - - - 41,708 41,708
Financial assets included in prepayments, S ATETEIE - k&R
deposits and other receivables* HiEYEN S RERE" 5,985 = - = 5,985
Due from a director Eh—2EZ05 1,088 = = = 1,088
Cash and cash equivalents ReRAEEEN 22,958 - - - 22,958
30,031 - - 41,708 71,739

The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are not past due or there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Credit risk concentration

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties, there is no requirement for collateral. The Group had certain
concentrations of credit risk as the trade receivables in terms of the
following percentages were due from the Group's largest external

* FRABEMRE RERHAMREFENERAEZER
BEEARDHREMERNZAZSEMEE D PEHER
RERRBBREENRERA [EF] -

FEERRER

AR AEEEETRAREERINE=TR
5 WEFEER - AEEBETEEETE
B ERRUATEZREFREAREE SR
WHIRBRBEN B D TR ASE R ARINEE P

customer and the Group's five largest external customers out of the BAREERAINEER 4
Group's total trade receivables:
2019 2018
20195 20184
% %
Due from the Group's largest external R AE B R AR
customer 11 14
Due from the Group's five largest EW AL BT AINBRF
external customers 23 26
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
liguidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its
financial instruments and financial assets and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of bank borrowings and funds
generated from operations.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual and undiscounted

payments, is as follows:

34. BBEBEEEBERBEE

MREBE SRR

AEEFRAEEERDESHE T AREZE
EeERITEMNER ZTASHARESET
ARSREEMENIIHA ML EXBA

BRLRE -

AEEW B BEABBERRTERREENMS
e EESZAHEMREEE ZHRET
g -

AEERREPRERGHRRBENTN S
MABIHBEROT

Less than 3 to less than More than
On demand 3 months 12 months  1to 5 years 5 years Total
REX DR3ER 3Z12BANT 1258 5EN & gt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIL THIL THIT THT THT THT
As at 31 December 2019 ®2019%12H31A

Trade payables BHRMTE - 35,381 - - - 35,381

Financial liabilities included SEARMERFER
in other payables and accruals EERNERAR - 4,944 - - - 4,944
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t S8R1TER 16,516 481 1,443 2,561 - 21,001
Lease liabilities HEaRE - 4,434 8,886 21,132 14,001 49,053
Due to directors ENESHE 403 - - - - 403
16,919 45,240 10,329 24,293 14,001 110,782

As at 31 December 2018 ®2018%12A31H

Trade payables BoRMNTR - 30,495 - - - 30,495

Financial liabilities included STARMERFUER
in other payables and accruals [ ERNERAE - 5,076 - - - 5,076
Interest-bearing bank borrowings s EHITER 12,737 - - - - 12,737
Dividend payables MRS - 10,500 - - - 10,500
Lease liabilities HERE - 4,334 12,969 34,663 11,504 63,470
Due to directors ENEZFE 8,655 - - - - 8,655
21,392 50,405 12,969 34,663 11,504 130,933

The Group’s term loans with a repayment on demand clause in the
amount of HK$16,516,000 (2018: HK$12,737,000) were repayable
after one year in accordance with the terms of the loans. The loan
agreements contained a repayment on demand clause giving the
bank the unconditional right to call in the loans at any time and
therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity profile, the amount
is classified as “on demand”.
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 34. FiREMREEEERBEK(E

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Notwithstanding the above clause, the directors do not believe that
the loans will be called in their entirety within 12 months, and they
consider that the loans will be repaid in accordance with the maturity
dates as set out in the loan agreements. This evaluation was made
considering: the financial position of the Group at the date of this
report; the Group’s compliance with the loan covenants; the lack of
events of default; and the fact that the Group has made all previously
scheduled repayments on time.

As at 31 December 2019, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$6,451,000
due within one year, HK$6,451,000 due in the second year, and
HK$9,159,000 due beyond two years.

As at 31 December 2018, in accordance with the terms of the
loans, the contractual undiscounted payments were HK$11,114,000
due within one year, HK$1,297,000 due in the second year, and
HK$1,729,000 due beyond two years.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’'s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to
it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders or return capital to shareholders. No changes were
made in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

nRBESRE(E)

BEALER  EFXTIRBA/EBERBE
R2EAARTHED  TRSEBEFERIES
RipEAEOE A EE - AREEREET
FUEREVEH AT L - AEERARE B HH
B - REEHERZRNERER - R
EREM  RAKBIA SR ST L BT R R
BRMEHAER ©

M2019F12A31H @ RIBEZIER > R—F
ANEIHAR G £ AR B IR (4 5% 56,451,000 7T
RE - FREIH 46,451,000 7T RRRE A
1% % 51811 59,159,000/ 7T °

M2018%F12A31H ' REBEERER - R—F
REHIN A HARBIEAFFAE11,114,0008 7T
RE - FRNEREIA1,297,00078 7T + R FE A
1% % HA811 51,729,000/ 7T °

aRER

AEBETERAEBTIES EREAEBELR
BEE  ARBRREHEBL S RENER
ERBLORIEE KA -

AEEEBEEANEE KA RECEAMR R EBNE
HAAE - AERFAREARER  AEBER 8
CRABRNTRENRECERARREEEL
AN o B ZE20194F K 2018512 A31BILEE -
EEEANERE  BERKEBFITELIRES -
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34. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(Continued)
Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities less cash
and cash equivalents. Capital represents the equity attributable to
owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at the end of the end of
the reporting periods were as follows:

34. BHEREEBRRBER(F

EXREE(E)

AEBEEREERGLL X (AVFHEBRALH
EEXNINFEB)ERER - FEABKEETE
RITEFREEAERRASIREEFEY - &
RIEFRAHEE ARIG#ERD - RBEEHRNE
ERELEMT

2019 2018

2019F 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

Interest-bearing bank borrowings sHEERITER 20,726 12,737
Lease liabilities HEBE 41,835 54,555
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B R RIRESFEY (43,807) (22,958)
Net debt FED 18,754 44,334
Equity attributable to owners of the parent ~ BAGIES AE(GHEZ 143,970 112,762
Capital and net debt BARRFED 162,724 157,096
Gearing ratio BEABLHEX 11.5% 28.2%

35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The following significant events took place subsequent to 31
December 2019:

(a) Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the shareholders
of the Company passed on 21 February 2020, the directors
were authorised to allot and issue a total of 1,499,999,750
shares credited as fully paid at par to each of the holders of
the Company’s shares whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company at the close of business on 21
February 2020 in proportion of their shareholdings by way of
capitalisation of the sum of HK$14,999,997.50 standing to the
credit of the share premium account of the Company.

(b) The Company's shares were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on 12 March 2020 and 500,000,000 ordinary
shares were issued at HK$0.25 per share on 12 March 2020 in
connection with the listing of the Company on the Main Board
as detailed in the Prospectus and the announcement of the
Company dated 11 March 2020, in relation to, among others, the
allotment results of the share offer.
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35. REHRSBE

LATREAREHMN2019F12A31BE A -

(a) IRIBFADRIAERN 202052 A21 HBAN
EERER  EBEBEBARRRNDE
EBRIE NHYEBR %8 14,999,997 .50 74 Jr #
FEZ - ELAMMN202062 A21 B L ¥
HEEEE RPN & R O E= 97NN
BROEEANREFRL IR RETEH
1,499,999,750 J% % E 1B A BR 17 51| & %12
R BEAD ©

(b) AR BRXDH2020F3 A 12 HFEHEZ fr =
REM WHHFBRARRBHARBK
SREANAFBEA2020F3811HAR
FH(EFEE)BRPBEEIRERNHA
EFHMH AR RN ER _EH MM 20204
3R 12 BR BB 0.25/8 LB 3T
500,000,000 8% & 3@ % o



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

s e
35. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (Continued) 35. SREHBREE(E)
(c) The recent escalation of COVID-19 coronavirus (“COVID-19") (c) COVID-197@ #kfm & ([ COVID-19 ) it &

R2020F3 AR ABEERRITR - Hm
BRSEKTFFE W2 RERK
e - AR EBEETYERRITRAE
B WERIFA A {THEEREEAEE
EEBRKTE -

to a global pandemic in March 2020 has an adverse impact on
market sentiment and posed challenge to the whole world. The
Group will continue to closely monitor the development of the
pandemic and take all possible reasonable measures to mitigate
the effect on the Group’s operations.

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY 36. D FBBEAMIRE
As at
31 December
2019
R2019%
12A31H
Notes HK$°000
Bt e FERT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS SEmBIEE
Investments in subsidiaries KB A RKRE 16 201,488
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Prepayments SEERE QL] 36
CURRENT LIABILITIES mBEE
Other payables and accruals Hibh B R EMNE A 20
Due to a subsidiary FEfS— MM B A Rl 5E 1,214
Total current liabilities mEN B EEE 1,234
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES mBaEFE (1,198)
Net assets BEFE 200,290
TOTAL EQUITY B
Share capital A% A 27 —*
Reserves i 200,290
Total equity B 200,290

*  Less than HK$500

L RB00A T

7

BEZRBMATE « 2019FERE



NOTESTO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI M

31 December 2019
2019 12H31H

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY  36. A A T KR RE (&)

(Continued)
Note: Pt -
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AABEEHENT ¢
Share Accumulated
premium loss Total
RADEE Rt @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Acquisition of subsidiaries under common control AR 5 A K 3 R0 42 il o B 2 )
pursuant to the Reorganisation 201,488 - 201,488
Loss for the period and total comprehensive HABERAANZESERE
loss for the period = (1,198) (1,198)
At 31 December 2019 7A2019512A831H 201,488 (1,198) 200,290
*  Less than HK$500 *  DR500 T
37. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 37. #EMHEIHRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by B RMN2020F3 A0 B EE = b R IX
the board of directors on 30 March 2020. HETEE o
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